Connecting physiological condition with salinity preference behaviour to infer estuary habitat choice in sockeye salmon smolts (*Oncorhynchus nerka*)

by Daniella LoScerbo

B.Sc., Concordia University, 2018

Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Resource Management

in the School of Resource and Environmental Management Faculty of Environment

© Daniella LoScerbo 2021 SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY Summer 2021

Copyright in this work is held by the author. Please ensure that any reproduction or re-use is done in accordance with the relevant national copyright legislation.

Declaration of Committee

Name:	Daniella LoScerbo			
Degree:	Master of Resource Management			
Title:	Connecting physiological condition with salinity preference behaviour to infer estuary habitat choice in sockeye salmon smolts (<i>Oncorhynchus nerka</i>)			
Committee:	Chair: Tom Gunton Professor, Resource and Environmental Management			
	Jonathan Moore Supervisor Professor, Biological Sciences			
	David Patterson Committee Member Adjunct Professor, Resource and Environmental Management			
	Emma Hodgson Examiner Adjunct Professor, Resource and Environment Management			

Ethics Statement

The author, whose name appears on the title page of this work, has obtained, for the research described in this work, either:

a. human research ethics approval from the Simon Fraser University Office of Research Ethics

or

b. advance approval of the animal care protocol from the University Animal Care Committee of Simon Fraser University

or has conducted the research

c. as a co-investigator, collaborator, or research assistant in a research project approved in advance.

A copy of the approval letter has been filed with the Theses Office of the University Library at the time of submission of this thesis or project.

The original application for approval and letter of approval are filed with the relevant offices. Inquiries may be directed to those authorities.

Simon Fraser University Library Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada

Update Spring 2016

Abstract

The time period in which juvenile salmon remain in an estuary varies greatly among and within populations, with some individuals passing through estuaries in a matter of hours, while others remain in the estuary for several months. This individual variation in estuary use suggests that there may be underlying differences in individual salmon condition that temporally mitigate the selection of habitat, such as smolt size (fork length, mass, condition factor), stored energy (lipids and proteins), and osmoregulatory function (gill N^+-K^+-ATP as activity, NKA). I investigated the role of physical and physiological condition on the selection of estuarine and ocean habitat by sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) smolts intercepted at the initiation of their downstream migration from Chilko Lake, Fraser River, B.C.. Since juvenile salmon energetic costs increase with rising salinity, I expected that smolts of lower physiological condition (i.e. low condition factor, poor energetic status and low NKA) would prefer to remain in the freshwater environment of the estuary, while smolts of higher physiological condition would prefer saline waters in the estuary and potentially indicate more rapid ocean entry. Behavioural salinity preference experiments were conducted on unfed smolts (n = 263) held in freshwater at three time intervals during their downstream migration period, representing the expected timing for lake exit, estuary entry, and ocean entry, at 0, 1, and 3 weeks respectively. Smolt condition factor (K), energetic stores and NKA predicted salinity preference behaviour in the estuary and ocean outmigration stages, but not at lake exit. Our results suggest that smolt physiological condition upon reaching the estuary may influence migratory behaviour and habitat selection, providing novel evidence on the temporally dependent interplay of physiology, behaviour and migration in wild juvenile Pacific salmon. As juvenile migratory behaviour is linked to physiological condition, and physiological condition is determined by productivity and competition within the rearing habitat, the importance of estuaries likely varies across years and within a population cohort; thus estuaries may be of heightened importance for wild juvenile salmon in years of poor freshwater growth conditions. These findings support the growing body of evidence on the importance of conserving both rearing habitat for juvenile growth potential, and estuarine habitat for smolt refugia before ocean entry.

Acknowledgements

The Fraser River is the largest river on the west coast of what is now called British Columbia. Every spring, thousands of salmon smolts leave their natal lakes and streams to begin their migration down the Fraser towards the Pacific Ocean. Carried by the waters of the Fraser, these juvenile salmon pass through the territories of over 90 First Nations: broadly, these are the Dakelh, Sekani, Wet'suwet'en, St'atl'imc, Secwepemc, Okanagan, Tsilhqot'in, Nlaka'pamux and Coast Salish (Fraser Basin Council, 2013). These communities have cared for this watershed, and the salmon within it, for over 10,000 years. I am humbled to be a student throughout these regions, and from this experience, I carry a responsibility to respect the lands, waters, rights and title of those who live there.

My research provides an incomplete eco-physiological view of the juvenile salmon migration; Indigenous knowledge is essential to understanding water systems, and the complex ecological relations within them (Atlas et al., 2021; Reid et al., 2021; Stefanelli et al., 2017) and is missing from my research. Future work, especially on cumulative effects of stressors throughout the life cycle, conservation and restoration efforts for watershed connectivity and estuarine habitat, should be guided, informed, and led by Indigenous knowledge holders, elders, and scholars. Indigenous knowledge systems encompass millennia of observations of people, watershed dynamics, and salmon management that is wholly lacking from Western sciences (Bozhkov 2020, Reid 2020, Carothers 2021). In addition, the effects of decisions regarding watersheds and salmon are felt deeply by Indigenous communities, who rely on their relationship with salmon for subsistence, culture, identity and livelihood (Steel 2021, Clark 2018, Voinot-Baron 2020); their voices should be heard first. Echoing the calls of many water scholars, I believe Western science, the "little sister", (Jess Housty Hakai 2020) should be guided by the steady hand of Indigenous Science (Atlas 2020), creating space for "Two Eyed Seeing" (Reid 2020) and for healing severed links within the weave of social-ecological systems of salmon.

v

I would like to extend the biggest thank you to all those who guided and supported my learning. My supervisors, Dr. Jonathan Moore and David Patterson, for trusting an entomologist to dive into the world of salmon science, welcoming me onto their teams, and for their continuous support throughout this project. Sam Wilson, for her generous guidance on my experimental design and analysis. The E-Watch crew, for teaching me how to be a fisheries biologist: Steve Healy, Kendra Robinson, Lida Nguyen-Dang & Angus Straight. All the incredible Salmon Watersheds lab-mates, for making me feel so very welcome, and surrounded by folks who care. Aimee Houde, for guidance on enzymatic protocols and analysis and answering an endless stream of questions. The extremely tolerant field technicians, Eric Olsen & Brian Hendricks, and the everenduring lab technicians, Eugenie Jacobsen, Paul Wilkinson & Emily Yungwirth. Sarah Ouimette, Victoria Chicatun, and Sophia Siedlikowski, true Masters of friendship and science, for ongoing support and proofreading this thesis. For all of my friends and family for supporting me through research, writing, whining, crying, and a global panini, and truly keeping me going. Thank you.

~ ~ ~

Estuaries are an intersection of land and sea, where the fast -traveling fresh water from inland, meets the deep, steady salinity of ocean water. These two bodies of water meet, interact, but remain separate, a light freshwater lens above a heavy, saltwater foundation. There is so much to learn from this intersection, from two waters, "two ways" (Muller 2012) meeting and moving in respectful and reciprocal parallel.

vi

Table of Contents

Declaration of Committee	ii
Ethics Statement	iii
Abotract	i.,
Adstract	IV
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	۸۱ v
Introduction	1
Methods	6
Smolt Collection	6
Experimental Design	9
Physiological Sampling	12
Measures of Stored Somatic Energy	13
Osmoregulatory preparedness: Gill NKA activity	
Behavioural Analysis	17
Smolt Condition Analysis	17
Salinity Preference Analysis	18
Results	23
Smolt behaviour through downstream migration	23
Smolt physiology through downstream migration	26
Physiological predictors of smolt behaviour through downstream migration	28
Discussion	35
Limitations and recommendations for further study	40
Conclusion	42
Pafarancas	11
Supplementary Materials	57
Correlations between physiological variables of smolt condition	58
Parallel Odds Model	60
Model Selection	61
Appendix A.	65
Validity of methods for estimating N ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase activity from gill tissue same	ples
of juvenile sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka)	65
Introduction and Methods	65
Results	66
Calculation of slope of gill NKA activity over 10-minutes	66

Duration of time frozen at -80°C on estimates of gill NKA activity	67
Conclusion	69
Appendix B	70
Analysis of non-exploratory behaviour in juvenile sockeye salmon (Oncorhyno	chus
nerka)	70
Introduction	70
Methods	71
Temporal variation in exploratory behaviour	71
Physiology of exploratory and non-exploratory smolts	72
Metrics of salinity preference	72
Inclusion of non-exploratory smolts in salinity preference models	73
Results	73
Is there an effect of holding time on exploratory behaviour?	73
Are there differences in physiology between exploratory and non-explorator	ſy
smolts?	74
Is there a discrepancy between metrics of salinity preference?	76
Does inclusion of non-exploratory smolts alter the outcome of salinity	
preference models?	78
Conclusion	82

List of Tables

- Table 2. Salinity preference and exploratory behaviour of smolts through outmigration experiment. The total number of exploratory smolts that preferred freshwater, brackish water, or saltwater are listed for each outmigration stage, with mean standard deviation of the proportion of time in preferred chamber denoted in brackets. Nonexploratory smolts are those that did not swim between chambers and thus have a standard deviation of zero. The most preferred salinity is highlighted for each stage and behaviour in bold............24
- Table 4.Salinity preference model summaries for smolts tested within the
estuary-entry, ocean-entry and all outmigration stages (from lake-
exit to ocean-entry). Models were selected by lowest AICc. Odds
ratio and 2.5% and 97.5% confident interals are shown for
coefficients scaled by 1 SD increase/decrease of each explanatory
variable. The t value shows the Wald statistic.

List of Figures

Map of Chilko sockeye salmon (<i>O. nerka</i>) migration route. All smolts for this study were sampled from Chilko lake at the onset of outmigration (A). Smolts were tested for salinity preference at 0, 1, and 3 weeks after lake-exit, corresponding to the locations depicted as A (lake-exit), B (estuary-entry), and C (ocean-entry), respectively
Experimental tank design to test for salinity preference of juvenile salmon. Smolts were transferred to the experimental set up in aerated freshwater (A) for 1 hour acclimation. A salinity gradient was then formed through bottom-fed fresh, brackish or salt water in respective chambers (B). Salinity preference as chamber occupancy was observed over 1 hour
Total number of smolts preferring freshwater, brackish or saltwater at lake-exit, estuary-entry, and ocean-entry. Non-exploratory fish are shaded in grey, while exploratory smolts are colored by migration stage
Temporal changes in physical and physiological smolt condition through outmigration experiments. Significant linear models are shown for for $\alpha = 0.05$
Predicted probabilities for preferring freshwater (dotted line), brackish (dot and dash line) or saltwater (solid line) depending on smolt physiology in the lake-exit, estuary-entry and ocean-entry outmigration stages. Probabilites were calculated for gill NKA activity while holding other variables constant at their respective mean values in the lake-exit ($M_{resid. lipid} = 0.23$, $M_{FL} = 88$ mm), estuary-entry ($M_{resid. lipid} = -0.23$, $M_{FL} = 85$ mm) and ocean-entry outmigration stages ($M_{resid. lipid} = 0.07$, $M_{FL} = 84$ mm)
Preference of freshwater (dotted line), brackish (dot and dash line) or saltwater (solid line) depending on smolt physiology at estuary- entry (A-D) and ocean-entry (E, F). In the estuary model (B, D), probabilites were calculated for values of Fulton's condition factor (K) and TAG density while holding other variables constant at their respective mean values ($M_K = 0.71$ g mm ⁻³ , $M_{NKA} = 8.3$ µmol ADP mg protein ⁻¹ hr ⁻¹ , $M_{TAG} = 34.9$ g g ⁻¹ lipid). In the ocean model (F), probabilites were calculated for values of energetic density (ED) while holding other variables constant at their respective mean values ($M_{NKA} = 8.4$ µmol ADP mg protein ⁻¹ hr ⁻¹)

Introduction

Migration is a phenomenon integral to ecosystem dynamics; as individual animals move across ecosystem boundaries, seeking temporally or spatially dispersed resources, they carry with them nutrients, energy and pathogens (Webster et al., 2002). Pacific salmon provide a striking example of the interdependence of migrations and ecosystems, transporting nutrients from the ocean to nutrient-limited inland riparian and forest ecosystems (Naiman et al., 2002), the imprint of which can be seen from space (Brown et al., 2020). Communities, cultures, and industries have formed around the annual migrations of Pacific salmon (B.C. Wild Salmon Advisory Council, 2019). Although people and places depend heavily on the movements of these animals, migration itself is threatened by loss of habitat and habitat connectivity (Wilcove & Wikelski, 2008). Effective conservation of migratory animals, and the ecosystems that they connect, hinges on understanding the mechanisms that underpin migration. Knowing when and why animals use specific habitats requires a holistic understanding of individual behaviour and physiology within migrating populations.

Anadromous Pacific salmon (*Oncorhynchus spp.*) experience some of the most diverse environments and stressors of any aquatic animal, as they migrate through streams, lakes, rivers, estuaries, coastal waters and open oceans and back again to complete their complex life cycle (Healey, 2011; Hodgson et al., 2020). During smolt outmigration, juvenile salmon can experience fluctuations of up to 7°C in temperature and 32 ppm in salinity in a single day (Idler & Clemens, 1959). Adapting to such contrasting environments requires complex physiological and behavioural changes that determine an individual's performance and subsequent survival. Studies that identify mechanistic links between individual physiology, behaviour and migration is of high priority in fisheries conservation (Horodysky et al., 2015; Lennox et al., 2019). Further, studying the physiology of migration provides an opportunity to assess changes and stressors between habitats, and the potential of these effects to carry-over or accumulate across

different life stages (Hodgson et al., 2019; Weber et al., 2003; Webster et al., 2002). In turn, migration depends on the response of individuals to internal and external cues that trigger this collective, synchronous movement. The sum of individual behaviour and physiology within populations forms the basis of migration (Ramenofsky & Wingfield, 2007).

As the transitionary zone between terrestrial watersheds and the ocean, estuaries form an important habitat along the salmon migratory corridor. As juvenile salmon leave their rearing habitat and swim towards the ocean, estuaries provide a range of salinities, resources and shelter for (i) physiological transition to saline conditions (Iwata & Komatsu, 1984), (ii) juvenile growth (Moore et al., 2016; Morrice et al., 2020), and (iii) refuge from predation (Sheaves et al., 2015) and parasites (Manel-La et al., 2009). Use of estuary habitat is associated with greater life-history diversity (Jones et al., 2014; Reimers, 1971; Simenstad et al., 1982), while the quality of estuarine habitat is correlated to returning adult survival (Magnusson & Hilborn, 2003; Meador & MacLatchy, 2014). Despite the apparent benefits of residing in estuaries, the time period in which juvenile salmon remain in an estuary varies greatly between and within populations, with some individuals passing through estuaries in a matter of days (Carr-Harris et al., 2015; Moore et al., 2016), while others remain in the estuary for several months (Beamish et al., 2016; Birtwell et al., 1987; Levy & Northcote, 1982). This variation in habitat use suggests that there may be underlying differences in individual condition that determine the importance of estuaries as stop-over habitat for juvenile salmon.

Multiple aspects of physical and physiological condition are associated with migration success in juvenile salmon. Smolt size and body condition are strong indicators of swim performance (Bams, 1967; Glova & McInerney, 1977; Taylor & McPhail, 1985a, 1985b) and contribute to migration speed at early ocean entry (Beacham et al., 2014; Freshwater et al., 2018). Juvenile salmon that are smaller and in poor condition can be at greater risk of predation in the ocean (Jeffries et al., 2014; Jonsson et al., 2011; Osterback et al., 2014; Tucker et al., 2016). Downstream migration in smolts is active, and the majority do not

feed, thus smolts rely largely on stored energy from the rearing habitat to fuel migration to the ocean. This energy is derived primarily from lipids, such as triglycerides, as well as protein (Brett, 1995). The amount of stored energy at any given life stage determines the potential for growth and the likelihood of survival in fish (Cunjakl, 1988; Larsen et al., 2000; Post & Parkinson, 2001; Sogard & Olla, 2000; Weber et al., 2003) and provides greater ecological and physiological relevance than traditional length or weight indices of fish condition (Minke-Martin et al., 2018; Trudel et al., 2005).

In addition to size and stored energy, the ability of a smolt to maintain homeostasis with increasing salinity along their migration route depends on the production and activation of osmoregulating enzymes in the gills. Na⁺-K⁺ ATPase (NKA) is the main enzyme responsible for osmatic regulation of teleost fish (Evans et al., 2005). In order to maintain osmoregulation when transitioning to habitats of increasing salinity, fish gill cells must actively excrete ions from the body into the ocean. NKA does this by creating an electrochemical gradient across the gill epithelial cell membrane that powers active transport of ions out of fish blood plasma and into the ocean. Activity levels of NKA are accurate predictors of downstream migratory behaviour of brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) (Nielsen et al., 2004), and are associated with smolt survival during migration to the ocean in Atlantic salmon (*S. salar*) (Stich, Zydlewski, & Zydlewski, 2015). The influence and interplay of smolt size, energetic stores and osmoregulation (gill NKA activity) on habitat selection during downstream migration is presently unknown and is the focus of this study.

Salinity preference is a commonly used metric to infer estuarine habitat choice (Baggerman, 1960; McInerney, 1963; Otto & McInerney, 1970; Price & Schreck, 2003b; D S Stich et al., 2016; Takei et al., 2013). Observations of tagged coho (*O. kisutch*) and Atlantic salmon found that smolts swim through vertical and horizontal gradients of salinity when passing through estuaries and that individuals vary greatly in occupied salinity and depth through migration (Hedger et al., 2008; Moser et al., 1991; Plantalech Manel-La et al., 2009). Experimental choice tests found that preference for saltwater increases

throughout migration in chum (*O. keta*), pink (*O. gorbuscha*), coho (*O. kisutch*), Chinook (*O. tshawytscha*), and sockeye salmon (*O. nerka*; Baggerman, 1960; McInerney, 1963). In turn, seawater preference decreases with stress (Price & Schreck, 2003b) and disease in Chinook salmon (Price & Schreck, 2003a), and decreases with sea lice infection in pink salmon (Webster et al., 2007). The physiology underlying this behaviour is attributed to seawater tolerance through gill NKA activity, controlled by multiple, interacting hormones, such as cortisol, thyroid hormones, growth hormone, insulin-like growth factor-1, and others (Iwata & Komatsu, 1984; McCormick, 2013; Stich et al., 2016). While the present understanding of the salmon endocrine triggers of downstream migration is complex, an energetic approach to explaining individual variation in smolt behaviour has yet to be undertaken.

I investigated the relationship between smolt physiology and salinity preference at three stages throughout the juvenile downstream migration period: (i) at the on-set of downstream migration from the rearing lake, (ii) 6-10 days after outmigration, when juveniles are expected to reach the Fraser River estuary, and (iii) 21-24 days after outmigration, when juveniles are expected to have fully passed through the influence of the Fraser river estuary and reach the ocean in the Northern Strait of Georgia and Johnstone Strait (Figure 1; Beacham et al., 2014; Clark et al., 2016; Johnson et al., 2019; Preikshot et al., 2012). Using salinity preference experiments to estimate habitat choice, I tested smolts for salinity preference at each of these 3 stages of migration. I formed three possible hypotheses (Table 1):

H₀ Salinity preference is not related to smolt condition (physical and physiological) or time since lake-exit

H₁ Salinity preference is dependent on smolt condition (physical and physiological) or time since lake-exit

H₂ Salinity preference is dependent on smolt condition (physical and physiological) and time since lake-exit

Based on findings from behavioural studies described previously, I predict that saltwater preference will be lowest at river-exit, intermediate at estuary-entry, and highest at ocean-entry [1]. Large body size and/or higher energetic condition of migrating smolts are associated with greater predator avoidance capacity (Glova & McInerney, 1977), prolonged swimming ability (Wilson et al. in press), faster migration (Freshwater et al., 2018), higher salinity tolerance (Conte & Wagner, 1965), and higher survival from smolts to adults (Henderson & Cass, 1991). These observations suggest that smolts of higher physiological condition may be better prepared for the increased predation and swimming capacity required in the ocean life stage. Thus, I predict that saltwater preference will be correlated to traits of increasing fish condition: high body condition (K), high gill NKA activity, and high densities of stored somatic energy (lipid, percent and triglyceride) [2]. This research will help to understand the importance of juvenile fish condition in smolt habitat selection throughout migration.



Figure 1. Map of Chilko sockeye salmon (*O. nerka*) migration route. All smolts for this study were sampled from Chilko lake at the onset of outmigration (A). Smolts were tested for salinity preference at 0, 1, and 3 weeks after lake-exit, corresponding to the locations depicted as A (lake-exit), B (estuary-entry), and C (ocean-entry), respectively.

Methods

Smolt Collection

This research is focused on the estuary of the largest producer of Pacific salmon in Canada, the Fraser River (Northcote & Atagi, 1997). Our focal population are sockeye salmon from Chilko Lake (renamed to Tŝilhqox Biny, 11 March 2019, Government of British Columbia & Tŝilhqot'in National Government) located 650 km north of the Fraser River estuary, in the interior of British Columbia, Canada (Figure 1). The smolt outmigration timing of this population is well documented, most recently from tagging and tracking smolts from lake-exit to the Strait of Georgia (Clark et al., 2016); Timing data from this tracking study was used to design the stages of the behavioural experiments. Out-migrating yearling sockeye salmon smolts were collected from Chilko Lake between 22:00 and 4:00 April 30 – May 1, 2019. Smolts were collected by via dip net at a smolt fence and transferred to a river-side transport tank with continual flow-through of aerated river water.

Behavioural experiments were conducted on smolts at three time intervals during their downstream migration period, representing the expected timing for lake exit, estuary entry, and ocean entry, at 0, 1, and 3 weeks respectively (Clark et al., 2016). A random subset of smolts (n = 45) were selected to undergo salinity preference experiments at the lake-side field site to measure salinity preference, energetic reserves and physiology immediately following outmigration (hereafter, lake-exit). The remaining smolts were transported to the ALCAN research facility at Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, B.C., and housed in ambient air temperature, freshwater and natural photoperiod for the duration of the out-migration period (4 weeks following lake-exit, 2 – 29 May 2019). Smolts were randomly placed in one of four 80 gallon holding tanks, each with a maximum density of approximately 15 g m⁻³. Water guality in holding tanks was maintained at 8.4°C (Cl₉₅[8.25, 8.48]), 98.6 % dissolved oxygen (Cl₉₅[98.04, 99.10]), and <0.25 ppm ammonia. Water temperatures are consistent with downstream migration conditions (MacDonald et al. 2018) and are low enough to prevent desmoltification. Nine mortalities were incurred during the four-week holding period; 2 associated with anaesthesia and elastomer tagging and 7 associated with holding.

All smolts were held in freshwater without feeding during the 4 week migration period. Previous work indicates that acclimation to various salinities

does not increase salinity tolerance in smolts (Morgan & Iwama, 1991), nor does fasting impact swim performance (Hvas et al., 2021) until a critical limit of starvation, which smolts in this study did not reach (Wilson et al., n.d.). Observations of empty stomachs of migrating Chilko sockeye smolts caught at lake-exit and the beginning of the estuary, Mission, BC (Chalifour et al., 2019) indicate that this population does not feed extensively during the freshwater migration stage (David Patterson, pers. comms). Freshwater holding experiments on Chilko smolts found that many refused feeding following initiation of migration (Clark et al., 2016), yet holding experiments in saltwater report that Chilko smolts resume feeding after 28 days since lake outmigration (Wilson et al., n.d.). A variable portion (20-40% from 2004 – 2009, 29% in 2014) of juvenile sockeye collected in marine trawls in the Strait of Georgia have empty stomachs (Beamish et al., 2012; Neville et al., 2016) and show gene expression patterns that suggest recent fasting (Houde et al., 2019). To reflect these observations, wild-caught smolts were not fed during the holding period.

Six fish were observed simultaneously in each trial to replicate the natural schooling behaviour of juvenile sockeye salmon, while allowing for determination of individual preference (Webster & Dill, 2007; Tierney et al. 2009). To distinguish individual smolts during the preference test, smolts were tagged with coloured elastomer (Northwest Marine Technology ©). Smolts were anesthetised using an aerated bath of 100 mg l⁻¹ tricaine methanesulfonate buffered with 200 mg l⁻¹ sodium bicarbonate for a maximum of 3 minutes until no movement occurred when the tail was grasped by an experimenter, while ensuring that operculum beating was regular. Elastomer tags were injected into the base of the anal fin via a 0.33x12.7mm sterile syringe, allowing the elastomer to fill the fin membrane between 1-2 fin rays. This allowed the tag to be seen maximally from both sides of the fish, while limiting fin and tissue damage. Smolts were then allowed to recover in an aerated 20L aquarium recirculating at 7-9°C. Once equilibrium and swim function were restored, tagged smolts were grouped by tag colour and transferred to labeled containers within holding tanks. Tagging occurred the day before a trial to allow for a minimum of 18 hours for recovery.

Experimental Design

To determine salinity preference of juvenile salmon, I observed the movement of individual smolts between chambers of freshwater (0-2 ppm), brackish water (14-16 ppm) and saltwater (30-32 ppm); the proportion of time spent in each chamber (and its corresponding salinity) was calculated for each fish. Given that all other conditions of the tank were controlled for, I assume that occupancy time is directly correlated to the preference of the individual smolt to the water salinity of the chamber.

The design of the experimental preference tank was modified from previous studies to test the preference for three salinities simultaneously (Baggerman, 1960; Houston, 1957; McInerney, 1963; Price & Schreck, 2003b). Three 20 L glass aguaria were placed side-by-side within a 120 L aguarium (Figure 2). This divided the aguarium into three chambers of equal size, while allowing for a 2-inch gap above the dividing walls for fish to cross between chambers. The outside and bottom of the aquarium was darkened with black plastic to minimize stress imposed on the fish during the experiment. The walls between chambers were left transparent to allow smolts to view conspecifics through the dividing walls, even if smolts were in different chambers. Smolts were tested in groups of six to allow for schooling behavior of sockeye salmon along the horizontal plane (Hoar et al., 1957; Katzman et al., 2010; Tierney et al., 2009; Webster & Dill, 2007), regardless of individual salinity choice. The tank was illuminated uniformly from above using an LED light, and surrounded by shade cloth to prevent visual disturbance. A video camera (GoPro Hero 3 ©) was positioned facing the long side of the aquarium to record fish position within all three chambers throughout the experiment. In addition, an experimenter recorded fish position (chamber and depth) and behavior every ten minutes through viewing slots in the shade cloth.

A Acclimation (60 mins)



B Salinity gradient (60 mins)



Figure 2. Experimental tank design to test for salinity preference of juvenile salmon. Smolts were transferred to the experimental set up in aerated freshwater (A) for 1 hour acclimation. A salinity gradient was then formed through bottom-fed fresh, brackish or salt water in respective chambers (B). Salinity preference as chamber occupancy was observed over 1 hour.

Initially, all three chambers were filled with fresh, aerated water (0.0 -0.2 ppm, 8.0 - 9.7 °C, 97.2 - 101.6 % DO, n_{trials} = 42, Figure 2A). Six smolts were randomly selected from holding tanks and transferred to the experimental aquarium, ensuring equally dispersed, randomized placement throughout the three chambers. The smolts were allowed to acclimate to the aquarium and move between the three chambers for 1-hour. Behaviour and position of smolts were recorded during the acclimation period and used to assess chamber preference bias independent of salinity changes.

After the 1-hour acclimation period, a horizontal salinity gradient was imposed in the experimental tank by displacing the water of each chamber with either fresh, brackish, or saltwater (Figure 2B). The order of salinity of each chamber was randomized between each trial to control for any effect of chamber location or order on fish behaviour or movement. Each chamber was filled by separate water reservoirs that fed into the bottom of each chamber taking approximately 5 mins to complete. In this way, fresh, brackish or saltwater could be slowly added in from the bottom of each chamber, displacing the original freshwater from the acclimation period. Instant Ocean (Instant Ocean ©, Spectrum Brands 3001 Commerce St. Blacksburg, VA 24060-6671) was added to filtered, aerated water to make brackish (14-16 ppm) and saltwater (30-32 ppm) and each were added to the respective reservoirs. The freshwater reservoir was filled with filtered, aerated water (0-2 ppm). When the higher-density salt and brackish water is introduced to two of the three chambers, the lower-density freshwater is displaced, forming a halocline. The upper freshwater layer of the halocline serves as a freshwater bridge in which the fish can move freely between chambers throughout the experiment. As water from the reservoirs was added to the chambers, the displaced freshwater was simultaneously drained from the aquarium using a gravity filtration system. Preliminary trials showed that the halocline was stable for over 2 hours and the salinity gradient was maintained even with fish actively moving within the tanks. Salinity probes (Marine Salinity Waterproof Tester ©, HI98319, HANNA Instruments) were fixed within each chamber to monitor salinity and temperature throughout the duration of the

experiments and ensure that haloclines were stable. Once the salinity gradient was imposed and stable, fish position (chamber and depth) and behavior (exploratory or non-exploratory) was recorded every ten minutes for one hour. If a fish was in the freshwater layer above the halocline of a chamber, it was recorded as being in freshwater, regardless of the salinity of the chamber below. Similar experiments have found that salinity preference stabilizes after 40 – 60 minutes (Price & Schreck, 2003b).

Two trials were removed from behavioral analysis. In trial 26A, improper mixing in the reservoir resulted in the saltwater chamber being of equal salinity to the brackish chamber. In trial 21B, one fish became moribund and may have imposed stress on conspecifics of the experiment. In total, 11 smolts out of the 263 tested were removed from behavioural analysis due to experimental failure (Salinity preference behavioural dataset: n = 252).

Physiological Sampling

Following preference trials, smolts were euthanized in tricaine methanesulfonate at a concentration of 400 mg I⁻¹(buffered with 800 mg I⁻¹ NaHCO₃) until fish operculum beating ceased and reflex response was absent (Neiffer & Stamper, 2009). Immediately after euthanization, smolts were destructively sampled for blood, gill and tissue samples. Blood was extracted via 0.45mm x 10mm sterile heparinized syringes and centrifuged in a centrifuge vial for 5 minutes. Plasma was then extracted via a pipette and both plasma and remaining blood cell were frozen at -80°C. For gill NKA activity, gill samples were taken from each smolt and stored in SEI Buffer (250 mM sucrose, 20 mM Na₂EDTA, 50 mM Imidazole, pH 7.3). Smolts were then measured for fork length to the nearest mm and body mass (to the nearest 0.01 g). The smolt carcasses were stored in individual whirlpacks and all samples were immediately frozen using dry ice. Blood, gill and carcasses were then transported to the laboratory and stored at -80°C until analysis.

Measures of Stored Somatic Energy

To estimate the bioenergetics of individual smolts, lipids, protein, water and ash were isolated and measured as proximate constituents following the Bligh and Dyer chloroform extraction method (Bligh & Dyer, 1959). Whole carcasses were thawed at room temperature and re-measured for fork length and mass (to allow for corrections for potential moisture loss associated with freezer storage). Stomachs were retained in samples since all smolts were held without feeding for a minimum of 24 hours before euthanization. In brief, whole thawed carcasses were homogenized in a SPEX SamplePrep 2010 Geno/Grinder (SPEX, Metuchen, NJ) at 1500 rpm in two-minute intervals, for a maximum of 8 minutes. Two replicate samples of 0.3 g +/- 0.015 g of the homogenate were mixed with 1:1:0.48 ratio of methanol, chloroform and water and homogenized to dissolve lipids and protein. Each homogenate mixture was filtered through a Büchner funnel to remove undissolved solids, and the supernatant was decanted into a graduated cylinder. The resulting volume of the lower, more dense layer, comprised of lipid and chloroform was measured, while the upper layer, comprised of water and methanol was removed by aspiration. A 100 µl subsample of the lipid-chloroform layer was frozen at at -80°C for triglyceride (TAG) analysis.

Sample percent lipid was calculated by taking the ratio of isolated lipid extracted from the homogenized tissue (g) to the weight of the sample used (g) and multiplying it by the ratio of the volume of chloroform + lipid used to dilute the homogenate (ml) to the volume of chloroform + lipid extracted to isolate the lipid (ml). If replicates differed in percent lipid by more than 20% CV, another sample was taken from the homogenate remained. The average **percent lipid** was calculated over all replicates used (range of two - four replicates per sample). Standard deviation and coefficient of variation of the sample percent lipid replicates was reported for each smolt.

A sub-sample of each homogenate was completely dehydrated at 100°C for 8-24 hours. **Sample percent water** was calculated by first taking the ratio of

the dehydrated sample weight (g) to the homogenized sample weight (g) to get the percent moisture loss, and then taking the difference in percent moisture loss from 100. The dehydrated sample was then heated to 500°C for 3-4 hours until the sample was fully combusted into ash. **Sample percent carbon** was calculated by the ratio of fully combusted ash sample weight (g) to the homogenized sample weight (g). **Percent protein** was estimated as the percent difference from the sum of percent lipid, water and carbon (Trudel et al., 2005). Energy data from four out of the 263 smolts analyzed were removed from further analysis due to high variance among replicates for lipid, carbon and water estimates (CV> 20%; three from the lake-exit group, and one from the oceanentry group).

The **energy density (ED)** of each smolt was calculated from lipid (*f*) and protein (*p*) measurements using the following equation (Breck, 2008):

$$ED = fD_f + pD_p$$

where *ED* is expressed in units kJ/g wet weight, *f* is the fraction of lipid measured per smolt (g/g wet weight), D_f is the energetic density of lipids reported for coho salmon (39.54 kJ g⁻¹) (Brett & Groves, 1979; Crossin et al., 2004; Higgs, 1979), *p* is the fraction of protein estimated per smolt (g g⁻¹ wet weight), and D_p is the energy density of protein reported for coho salmon (23.64 kJ g⁻¹) (Crossin et al., 2004; Higgs, 1979).

Triglycerides are the major energy storage form of lipids in fish and have high ecological and physiological relevance as indicators of growth potential (Hakanson et al., 1994; Lochmann et al., 1995). A colorimetric method was used to extract percent triglycerides for each smolt. Absorbance was read at 540nm in a FLUOStar Omega © optic fluorescence spectrometer. TAG concentration (mg dL⁻¹) was estimated by the ratio of the blank-corrected absorbance (nm) to the standard slope of each spec plate (nm mg⁻¹ dL⁻¹). TAG concentration was converted to the **percent ratio of TAG to lipid** by multiplying TAG concentration (g mL⁻¹) by the total volume of chloroform used for lipid extraction and dividing by the mass of lipid extracted using the Bligh & Dyer method. The **percent ratio of TAG to lipid** represents the density of TAG within lipid stores in individual fish.

Osmoregulatory preparedness: Gill NKA activity

Salinity tolerance is commonly measured as a change in plasma osmolality 24 hours after transfer to seawater (McCormick et al., 2009). Plasma osmolarity is inversely correlated with gill Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase (NKA) and as such, gill NKA is a common metric to estimate salinity tolerance (Bassett, 2015; Elsner & Shrimpton, 2018; Stich et al., 2016; Zydlewski et al., 2014). Immediately after completion of salinity preference experiments, and following euthanization of smolts, gill samples were clipped from the right gill arch and frozen on liquid nitrogen in SEI buffer to preserve enzyme structure and function. Following the enzymatic assay protocol from McCormick (1993), gill NKA activity was measured as the production of ADP from ATP dephosphorylation. ADP production is coupled with reactions from two other enzymes, pyruvate kinase and lactate dehydrogenase. Pyruvate kinase uses phosphoenolpyruvate and ADP to form pyruvate and ATP, which is then used by lactate dehydrogenate to reduce NADH to NAD+. The rate of disappearance of NADH, which is equimolar to the rate of production of ADP by sodium potassium ATPase obtained from the smolt gill sample, was measured by a FLUOStar Omega © optic fluorescence spectrometer.

Reagent quality was checked prior to each assay by running a standard curve of ADP consumption in the absence of sodium potassium ATPase, in which the acceptable range was -0.17 and -0.2 mOD nmol⁻¹. Each gill sample was measured in triplicate. Each replicate was coupled with a sample that was inhibited by 0.5 mM ouabain, which blocks Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity. Assay mixtures of homogenized gill tissue samples and reagents were mixed and immediately measured for change in absorbance at 340 nm and 25°C. The linear slope of ATP hydrolysis (or the equimolar disappearance of NADH) was calculated over 10 minutes for each sample in Omega BMG Labtech Software © 5.10 R2. This differs from McCormick (1993), who calculated the slope between 3 and 9 minutes of the assay to avoid the beginning and end of the assay where the enzyme rate may be non-linear (increasing at the start to reach maximum rate, or decreasing at the end due to limited remaining reactants). Slopes for all Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity were calculated using the 10 minute protocol, as enzyme

rate over the 10 minute period was observed to be linear; further, the difference in variation and activity between protocols was negligible (see Appendix, Figure A1).

The slope of ATP hydrolysis was then corrected by dividing by the measured ADP extinction coefficient standard curve ($\bar{x} = 20.754 \text{ mOD nmol}^{-1}$ NADH, SE = 0.140, n = 3). The enzyme activity of each well was then scaled by the corresponding concentration of protein from each tissue sample using the BCA Protein Assay Kit © (Product No. 23225 from Pierce P.O. Box 117, Rockford, Illinois 61105). Protein assays were measured in triplicate, with bovine serum albumin as the standard, read at 25°C and 550 nm absorbance. The final metric of NKA activity was determined as the difference between uninhibited and ouabain-inhibited rates of ATP hydrolysis in units of micromoles ADP per milligrams of protein per hour.

Readings of ATP hydrolysis above 0.5 mOD nmol⁻¹ were denoted as out of acceptable range and were removed from NKA activity calculations for that sample (McCormick et al., 2009). Readings of ATP hydrolysis in ouabaininhibited samples that exceeded the corresponding rate of uninhibited samples were denoted as measurement error and were also removed from NKA calculations for that sample. Variation in measurements of NKA activity came primarily from three sources: (i) variation among replicates of spectrometry readings of uninhibited ATP hydrolysis, (ii) variation among replicates of spectrometry readings of ouabain-inhibited ATP hydrolysis, and (iii) variation among replicates of spectrometry readings of BCA protein concentration assays. To account for variation in all sources, I calculated the coefficient of variation for each sample from the pooled variance as follows:

$$s_p^2 = \frac{(n_1 - 1)s_1^2 + (n_2 - 1)s_2^2 + (n_3 - 1)s_3^2}{n_1 + n_2 + n_3 - 3}$$

Where the subscripts 1, 2, and 3 refer to the three sources of variation listed previously, *n* is the sample size and *s* is the variance for each variable. Eight gill samples out of the 263 produced high variation among replicates (CV>20%) and were removed from further analysis.

Behavioural Analysis

Salinity preference was calculated for individual smolts as the salinity of the chamber in which the smolt was observed more than 50% of the time after the salinity gradient was established (for a total experimental duration of 60 minutes). For the majority of trials, the final chamber occupied was also the chamber with the longest occupancy (see Appendix B, Figure B3). If a smolt spent 50% of the experimental time in each of two chambers, salinity preference was determined as the salinity of the occupied chamber at the end of the trial. The standard deviation of salinity preference was calculated using the Wald normal approximation interval for a binary outcome; in this case, the binary outcome is preferred v. non-preferred chamber (Wallis, 2013).

$$s = \frac{\sqrt{p(1-p)}}{n}$$

Where *n* is the sample size (6 observations per fish per trial), *p* is the proportion of observations in the preferred chamber, and *s* is the standard deviation of the proportion of observations in the preferred chamber. Some fish were observed to remain in the chamber in which they were initially placed, and thus did not explore the experimental tank. For these fish, salinity preference could not be calculated with certainty, as they may not have moved from the chamber they were placed in due to salinity preference or because they did not explore the other chambers and thus were unaware of the other choices. Fish that did not move chambers throughout the acclimation or experimental stages of trials were not included in analyses of salinity preference (see Appendix B).

Smolt Condition Analysis

263 smolts were tested for salinity preference. Two trials (12 smolts) were removed due to experimental failure, resulting in 252 smolts from successful behavioural trials. Four smolts were removed due to high variance in energetic analysis. The final dataset of salinity preference behaviour coupled with energetic

profiles includes 248 smolts, of which 133 were non-exploratory and 115 were exploratory.

To test for differences in size, mass and physiological condition between outmigration stages, I compared group distributions using a Type II ANOVA and Tukey *post hoc* test in the anova_test and tukey_hsd functions in the rstatix package of R version 4.0.2 (Kassambara, 2020b). Normality of variables was assessed visually using the ggqqplot function in the ggpubr package (Kassambara, 2020a), while heteroscedasticity of residuals was visually assessed using the plot function of the base package (R Core Team, 2018).

Salinity Preference Analysis

I tested the hypothesis that salinity preference of smolts is dependent on their physiological condition, gill development, and the stage of their outmigration. The possible values for the dependent variable, salinity preference, are ordered by increasing salinity: freshwater (approximately 2ppm) < brackish water (approx. 15 ppm) < saltwater (approx. 32 ppm). The choice of occupying a chamber is inherently dependent on the previous chamber occupied, as well as the other chambers. This lack of independence violates the assumptions of ANOVA and MANOVA (Bruzzone & Corley, 2011). Ordinal logistic regression accounts for this dependency by considering the probability of the choice of a salinity as well as all other salinities through cumulative log odds (Bilder & Loughin, 2014).

$$logit(P(Y \le j) = log\left(\frac{P(Y \le j)}{1 - P(Y \le j)}\right)$$

Where *Y* is the ordered response variable of salinity preference with levels j = 1 (freshwater, ~2 ppm), 2 (brackish, ~15 ppm), and 3 (salt water, ~ 32 ppm). For each category of Y (preferring freshwater, brackish, or saltwater), the parameter β_{j0} changes, but the slope for each unit of a given explanatory variable remains constant. There is no equation for the proportional log odds of the highest category of salinity preference, saltwater (j = 3 = J), as the probability of observing saltwater preference, $P(Y \le salt)$, inherently includes brackish and freshwater, and so $P(Y \le salt) = 1$.

$$P(Y \le j) = \frac{\exp\left(\beta_{j0} + \beta_1 X_1 + \dots + \beta_p X_p\right)}{1 + \exp\left(\beta_{j0} + \beta_1 X_1 + \dots + \beta_p X_p\right)}$$

The probability for observing category *j* is:

$$P(Y = j) = P(Y \le j) - P(Y \le j - 1)$$

For each of the three experimental salinities in this study, the probability of observing preference is:

$$P(Y = freshwater) = \frac{\exp(\beta_{j0} + \beta_1 X_1 + \dots + \beta_p X_p)}{1 + \exp(\beta_{j0} + \beta_1 X_1 + \dots + \beta_p X_p)} - 0$$
$$P(Y = brackish) = \frac{\exp(\beta_{j0} + \beta_1 X_1 + \dots + \beta_p X_p)}{1 + \exp(\beta_{j0} + \beta_1 X_1 + \dots + \beta_p X_p)} - P(Y = freshwater)$$

The probability for category J is the difference between 1 and the probability of the second last category (in this case, preferring brackish water):

$$P(Y = saltwater) = 1 - P(Y = freshwater) - P(Y = brackish)$$

The odds ratio (OR) was calculated for each explanatory variable (X) as:

$$OR = \exp(c\beta)$$

Where *c* is set as one standard deviation of a given continuous explanatory variable, and as c = 1 for categorical variables. β is the slope parameter for a given explanatory variable.

Ordinal logistic regression assumes that the dependent variables are inherently ordered, the absence of multicollinearity between independent variables, and proportional odds between each pair of outcome groups (Bilder & Loughin, 2014). The salinity preference experiment was designed to limit the choice of occupation to three chambers of increasing salinity, thus ordering the dependent variable as freshwater, brackish water or saltwater preference. Due to high collinearity among proximate constituents of somatic energy, energetic

density and condition variables, I ran each variable as separate predictors of salinity preference. The assumption of proportional log odds was tested for each model following Bilder & Loughin (2014) (Suppl. Table 1). The only exception is predicting salinity preference by NKA activity in the river outmigration stage: in this group, only one smolt chose saltwater, and that smolt displayed high NKA activity; when tested, this results in a predicted logit of negative infinity. Although this variable violates the assumption of proportional odds, I included it in the model for the river outmigration group as the it reflects the true biological nature of the data and transformations failed to be useful. When predicting salinity preference by NKA activity in the estuary and ocean outmigration groups, and across all three outmigration groups, the proportional odds assumption holds. used the function polr() in the R package MASS (Ripley, 2020; Venables & Ripley, 2002) to predict the ordinal outcome of salinity preference by measurements of smolt physiological condition for each outmigration stage separately. The assumption of normality and homoscedasticity of variables and residuals were verified via visual assessment for all models.

Smolts were held in freshwater and unfed for up to 4 weeks after lake-exit as previously justified. To account for the innate decline in smolt condition (mass, condition factor, lipid and protein stores) with holding time, I used the residuals of the linear model of smolt condition by day of year as relative smolt condition to predict salinity preference across outmigration stages. The residuals of smolt condition by date thus account for daily changes in physiological and physical condition under the assumption that no feeding occurred during the downstream migration to the ocean. I detected a decrease in fork length throughout the experimental period (n = 115, Intercept = 87.25 mm, $\beta = -1.49 \times 10^{-1}$ mm day⁻¹, SE = 0.059 mm day⁻¹, p = 0.01). To account for this size-bias, I included fork length as a variable in all iterations of the full model.

When testing for salinity preference across outmigration stages, I formed three possible hypotheses that I tested using ordinal logistic regression models (Table 1). Models were selected by the second-order bias correction of Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC_c), recommended for comparison of models of sample

sizes where *n* per $K \le 40$. AIC_c values were calculated with the function confset() in the package AICcmodavg (Burnham et al., 2011; Mazerolle, 2020), using the following equation:

AICc =
$$-2\log(L(\hat{\theta})) + 2K + \frac{2K(K+1)}{n-K-1}$$

Where *n* is the sample size, $-2 \log(L(\hat{\theta}))$ is the log likelihood estimates of the model parameters, and *K* is the number of parameters fitted by the regression model. The top model represents the most parsimonious model which minimizes information loss.

Table 1.Experimental hypotheses and model parameters. Variables of
physical condition are fork length, mass and condition factor
(K). Variables of physiological condition are % lipid, % protein,
% triglyceride (TAG), and energy density (ED).

Hypothesis		Model(s)	
H ₀	Salinity preference is not related to smolt condition (physical and physiological) or time since lake- exit	preference ~ 1	
H ₁	Salinity preference is dependent on either smolt condition (physical	preference ~ physical condition	
	and physiological) or time since lake-exit	preference ~ physiological condition	
		preference ~ outmigration stage	
H ₂	Salinity preference is dependent on both smolt condition (physical	preference ~ physical condition + outmigration stage	
	and physiological) and time since lake-exit	preference ~ physiological condition + outmigration stage	
		preference ~ physical condition + physiological condition + outmigration stage	

Results

I tested the hypothesis that smolt outmigration behaviour is dependent on smolt physical and physiological condition and outmigration stage. Chilko sockeye smolts were tested for salinity preference and coupled with physiological profiles (n = 248) across three stages of outmigration: at the on-set of downstream migration from the rearing lake (lake-exit group, n = 45), 6-10 days after outmigration, when juveniles are expected to reach the Fraser River estuary (estuary-entry group, n = 120), and 21-24 days after outmigration, when juveniles are expected to have fully passed through the estuary and reach the ocean (ocean-entry group, n = 83). Physiological profiles of smolts include physical condition (Fulton's condition factor, K), physiological condition (% lipid, % protein, % triglyceride, energy density, and gill NKA activity).

Smolt behaviour through downstream migration

Salinity preference behaviour varied over time, consistent with the natural transition from river to estuary to ocean (Figure 3, Table 2). At the onset of lake outmigration, the majority of exploratory smolts preferred freshwater (83%), and very few smolts selected brackish (13%) or saltwater (4%). A shift in salinity preference occurred at estuary-entry, where brackish water preference (37%) became equal to freshwater preference (37%), and saltwater preference increased to 26% of exploratory smolts. This general trend of preference held when tested at ocean-entry, two weeks later, with 43% of exploratory smolts preferred freshwater.

Out of the 248 smolts in which both salinity preference and physiological profiles were obtained, 54% were non-exploratory (n = 133). Non-exploratory smolts, those that did not move from the initial chamber in which they were placed, were not included in salinity preference models, as preference cannot be accurately determined without exploration or knowledge of alternatives (see Methods for further justification). Predictors of non-exploratory behaviour are analyzed in detail in Appendix B and are briefly summarized here. The general

temporal trend of salinity preference was similar regardless of exploratory behaviour (Table 2, Figure 3). The duration of time that wild smolts were held since capture (*ie*. the number of days since lake-exit) did not change the proportion of fish that exhibited exploratory behaviour (Appendix B, Figure B1), nor was there sufficient evidence of physical or physiological differences between exploratory and non-exploratory smolts (Appendix B, Figure B2). Inclusion of non-exploratory smolts in salinity preference models resulted in the same variables of smolt condition selected for best model fit, and the same directionality between variables of smolt condition and preferred salinity (Appendix B, Figure B3).

Table 2.Salinity preference and exploratory behaviour of smolts
through outmigration experiment. The total number of
exploratory smolts that preferred freshwater, brackish water,
or saltwater are listed for each outmigration stage, with mean
standard deviation of the proportion of time in preferred
chamber denoted in brackets. Non-exploratory smolts are
those that did not swim between chambers and thus have a
standard deviation of zero. The most preferred salinity is
highlighted for each stage and behaviour in bold.

Outmigration stage (days since lake	Behaviour		Salinity Preference <i>n</i> (SD)	
outmigration)		Freshwater	Brackish water	Saltwater
Lake-exit (1)	All	37 (0.03)	6 (0.08)	2 (0.1)
	Exploratory	25 (0.05)	4 (0.13)	1 (0.19)
	Non-exploratory	12 (0)	2 (0)	1 (0)
Estuary-entry (6-10)	All	44 (0.03)	45 (0.04)	31 (0.03)
	Exploratory	16 (0.09)	16 (0.1)	11 (0.08)
	Non-exploratory	28 (0)	29 (0)	20 (0)
Ocean-entry (21-24)	All	31 (0.07)	28 (0.07)	24 (0.05)
	Exploratory	18 (0.13)	13 (0.14)	11 (0.10)
	Non-exploratory	13 (0)	15 (0)	13 (0)



Preferred salinity

Figure 3. Total number of smolts preferring freshwater, brackish or saltwater at lake-exit, estuary-entry, and ocean-entry. Non-exploratory fish are shaded in grey, while exploratory smolts are colored by migration stage.

Smolt physiology through downstream migration

Smolt physical and physiological condition generally declined throughout the smolt outmigration window (May 1-24, 2019). Smolts that were tested at lakeexit were on average larger (M = 88 mm fork length, SD = 5 mm) than smolts tested at ocean-entry (M = 84 mm, SD = 5 mm, Table 3). Over the 3-week, freshwater, non-feeding migration period, smolts declined by 0.97 g in mass, 0.08 in condition factor (K), 1.01% lipid, 1.03% protein, 17% triglyceride (TAG), and 0.64 kJ g⁻¹ energy density (ED); conversely, percent water increased by 2.04 %. The only physiological condition parameter that did not show a significant change throughout the smolt outmigration window was gill NKA, with an overall average activity of 8.4 µmol ADP mg protein⁻¹ hr⁻¹ (SD = 3.0, n = 110, Figure 3).

Size-metrics (fork-length, mass, K) showed weak-moderate correlations (Pearson's $r < \pm 0.5$) with physiological variables (% water, % lipid, % protein, ED, %TAG). This held across outmigration stages (Suppl. Figure 1). Of the physiological variables measured, percent water was highly correlated to % lipid (Pearson's r < -0.68) and ED (Pearson's r < -0.73). Gill NKA did not correlate strongly with any of the size- or energetic-metrics assessed (Pearson's r < 0.5).


Figure 4. Temporal changes in physical and physiological smolt condition through outmigration experiments. Significant linear models are shown for for $\alpha = 0.05$.

Table 3. Smolt physical and physiological condition throughout each outmigration stage of salinity preference experiments. Means within each stage are reported with standard deviation in parenthesis. Results are from linear regressions of each condition variable by day since lake outmigration. The slope (β) indicates the estimated rate of change in condition per day, and the intercept indicates the model estimate for condition at lake outmigration. Models that were significant to $\alpha = 0.05$ are shown in bold (P).

Condition	Mean within outmigration stage (SD)			n Intercept		tβ	SE	Ρ
variable	River	Estuary	Ocean			-		
Fork length (mm)	88 (5)	85 (6)	84 (5)	115	87.25	-0.149	0.059	0.01
Wet Mass (g)	4.92 (0.90)	4.50 (0.96)	3.95 (0.81)	115	4.93	-0.045	0.009	<0.001
Fulton's K (10⁵ g mm⁻³)	0.73 (0.05)	0.71 (0.06)	0.65 (0.04)	115	1.17	-0.004	0.001	<0.001
Water Density, % (g g ⁻¹ wet weight)	79.42 (3.57)	80.63 (1.06)	81.46 (0.96)	108	79.63	+0.086	0.022	<0.001
Lipid Density, % (g g-¹ wet weight)	3.09 (1.03)	2.34 (0.82)	2.08 (0.48)	108	7.67	-0.040	0.009	<0.001
TAG Density, % (g g ⁻¹ Lipid)	33 (18)	36 (27)	16 (8)	108	38.50	-0.944	0.215	<0.001
Protein Density, % (g g ⁻¹ wet weight)	17.38 (3.33)	16.92 (0.67)	16.35 (0.76)	108	17.36	-0.046	0.020	0.02
Energetic Density (kJ g ⁻¹)	5.33 (0.92)	4.93 (0.36)	4.69 (0.28)	108	5.25	-0.026	0.006	<0.001
Gill NKA activity (µmol ADP mg protein ⁻¹ hr ⁻¹)	8.63 (3.33)	8.34 (2.56)	8.36 (3.16)	109	8.48	-0.005	0.032	0.9

Physiological predictors of smolt behaviour through downstream migration

The most parsimonious models for predicting salinity preference for all smolts included variables of gill NKA activity, outmigration stage, fork length, and energetic variables(relative lipid, protein, TAG and energy density; AIC_c [199.03 - 200.94], $\Delta AIC_c < 2$, Suppl. Table 5). In all of these models, osmoregulatory function (gill NKA activity) and outmigration stage (lake-exit, estuary-entry,

ocean-entry) predicted salinity preference throughout the smolt outmigration window, after accounting for smolt size (FL), and relative smolt somatic energy. While all four of these models (relative lipid, protein, TAG and energy density) are equivalent in fit, for brevity, the values I report are for the model that includes relative lipid density. Smolts with higher gill NKA activity showed increased preference for brackish or saltwater ($\beta = 0.153$, SE = 0.07, p = 0.03), given smolt size and relative lipid density. For every 1 SD increase in gill NKA activity (SD = 2.97 μ mol ADP mg protein⁻¹ hr⁻¹, n = 104), the odds of choosing brackish or saltwater (≥15ppm) increase by 58% (OR = 1.58, 95% CI [1.04, 2.39]). Smolts tested during estuary-entry showed increased preference for brackish or saltwater (β = 2.281, SE = 0.61, p < 0.001), where the odds of choosing brackish or saltwater increase by 9.79 times compared to those tested at lake-exit (95%) CI [2.94, 32.61]). Likewise, smolts tested during ocean-entry showed increased preference for brackish or saltwater ($\beta = 2.038$, SE = 0.62, p < 0.001), where the odds of choosing brackish or saltwater increase by 7.67 times compared to those tested at lake-exit (95% CI [2.3, 25.64]). Models that included relative lipid density, protein density, energetic density and TAG density as variables of somatic energy all showed equal strength in contributing to model fit, but there was insufficient evidence to suggest that individual somatic energy variables predicted salinity preference, after accounting for gill NKA activity and outmigration stage (p > 0.05).



Figure 5. Predicted probabilities for preferring freshwater (dotted line), brackish (dot and dash line) or saltwater (solid line) depending on smolt physiology in the lake-exit, estuary-entry and oceanentry outmigration stages. Probabilites were calculated for gill NKA activity while holding other variables constant at their respective mean values in the lake-exit (M_{resid. lipid} = 0.23, M_{FL} = 88 mm), estuary-entry (M_{resid. lipid} = -0.23, M_{FL} = 85 mm) and ocean-entry outmigration stages (M_{resid. lipid} = 0.07, M_{FL} = 84 mm).

Smolt physical condition (K), gill activity (NKA) and energy stores (TAG and ED) predicted salinity preference behaviour in the estuary and ocean outmigration stages, but not in the river, when outmigration stages were each run separately (Suppl. Tables 2, 3, 4). In the estuary outmigration stage, the best model for predicting salinity preference included Fulton's K, gill NKA activity, and TAG (Suppl. Table 3). After accounting for smolt osmoregulatory ability and energy stores, higher values of K increased the likelihood of preference for brackish or saltwater (β = 23.06, *SE* = 8.38, *p* = 0.01). For every 1 SD increase in Fulton's K (SD = 0.06 g mm⁻³), the odds of choosing brackish or saltwater (\geq 15 ppm), increase by 3.68 times (*OR* = 3.68, 95% CI [1.45., 9.28], Figure 4A). After accounting for smolt gill activity and smolt physical condition, smolts with higher percent TAG showed decreased preference of brackish or saltwater (β = -0.031, *SE* = 0.02, *p* = 0.04). For every 1 SD increase in percent TAG (SD = 24.3 g g⁻¹ lipid) the odds of choosing brackish or saltwater (\geq 15.00, *SE* = 0.02, *p* = 0.04). For every 1 SD increase in percent TAG (SD = 24.3 g g⁻¹ lipid) the odds of choosing brackish or saltwater (\geq 15.00, *p* = 0.04). For every 1 SD increase in percent TAG (SD = 24.3 g g⁻¹ lipid) the odds of choosing brackish or saltwater (\geq 15.00, *p* = 0.04). For every 1 SD increase in percent TAG (SD = 24.3 g g⁻¹ lipid) the odds of choosing brackish or saltwater (\geq 15.00, *p* = 0.04). For every 1 SD increase in percent TAG (SD = 24.3 g g⁻¹ lipid) the odds of choosing brackish or saltwater (\geq 15.00, *p* = 0.47, 95% CI [0.23, 0.95], Figure 4B).

In the ocean outmigration stage, the top model for predicting salinity preference included energetic density and gill NKA activity (Suppl. Table 4). After accounting for smolt physical condition and osmoregulatory ability, smolts with higher densities somatic energy showed increased preference for brackish or saltwater (β = 3.272, *SE* = 1.46, *p* = 0.02). For every 1 SD increase in energetic density (SD = 0.28 kJ g⁻¹), the odds of choosing brackish or saltwater (\geq 15ppm) increase by 2.49 times (*OR* = 2.49, 95% CI [1.12, 5.52], Figure 4C). In the lake-exit outmigration stage, the null model produced the lowest AIC_c; none of our

variables of physical or physiological condition contributed significantly to model fit (Table A2).



Figure 6. Preference of freshwater (dotted line), brackish (dot and dash line) or saltwater (solid line) depending on smolt physiology at estuary-entry (A-D) and ocean-entry (E, F). In the estuary model (B, D), probabilites were calculated for values of Fulton's condition factor (K) and TAG density while holding other variables constant at their respective mean values ($M_{K} = 0.71 \text{ g mm}^{-3}$, $M_{NKA} = 8.3 \mu \text{mol ADP mg protein}^{-1} \text{ hr}^{-1}$, $M_{TAG} = 34.9 \text{ g g}^{-1}$ lipid). In the ocean model (F), probabilites were calculated for values of energetic density (ED) while holding other variables constant at their respective mean values ($M_{NKA} = 8.4 \mu \text{mol ADP mg protein}^{-1} \text{ hr}^{-1}$).

Table 4.Salinity preference model summaries for smolts tested within
the estuary-entry, ocean-entry and all outmigration stages
(from lake-exit to ocean-entry). Models were selected by
lowest AICc. Odds ratio and 2.5% and 97.5% confident interals
are shown for coefficients scaled by 1 SD increase/decrease of
each explanatory variable. The t value shows the Wald
statistic.

Outmigration Stage	Predictor	β	SE	t value	p	OR	2.5% CI	97.5% Cl
Estuary-entry	Fulton's K (10 ⁵ g mm ⁻³)	23.058	8.375	2.753	0.01	3.68	1.45	9.28
	Gill NKA activity (µmol ADP mg protein-1 hr-1)	0.022	0.132	0.164	0.87	1.06	0.55	2.05
	TAG Density, % (g g⁻¹ Lipid)	-0.031	0.015	-2.090	0.04	0.47	0.23	0.95
Ocean-entry	Gill NKA activity (µmol ADP mg protein ⁻¹ hr ⁻¹)	0.196	0.108	1.822	0.07	1.86	0.95	3.61
	Energetic Density (kJ g ⁻¹)	4.900	2.097	2.336	0.02	3.92	1.25	12.33
All stages	Resid.(Lipid Density ~ DOY)	0.307	0.262	1.170	0.24	1.28	0.85	1.94
(Lake-exit to ocean-entry)	Gill NKA activity (µmol ADP mg protein ⁻¹ hr ⁻¹)	0.153	0.072	2.134	0.03	1.58	1.04	2.39
	Fork length (mm)	-0.056	0.038	-1.485	0.14	0.72	0.47	1.11
	Estuary-entry	2.281	0.614	3.716	<0.001	9.79	2.94	32.61
	Ocean-entry	2.038	0.616	3.310	<0.001	7.67	2.30	25.64

Discussion

Migrations of animal populations depend on individual physiological and behavioural adaptations. Research on the smolt migration has focused either on behaviour (Clark et al., 2016; Furey et al., 2016; Katzman et al., 2010; Melnychuk et al., 2010; Moser et al., 1991; Neville et al., 2016) or physiology (Houde et al., 2019; Shrimpton et al., 2005; Stefansson et al., 2003; Stefansson et al., 2012; Wilson et al., n.d.), but rarely on the interplay of the two (Baggerman, 1960; Stich et al., 2016; Stich et al., 2015). I investigated how physiology and salinity preference behaviour change throughout the juvenile sockeye salmon migration period, from lake-exit to ocean-entry. Using behavioural experiments coupled with physiological measurements from smolts, I found that behaviour is both dependent on the stage of the smolt outmigration (i.e., the number of days since lake-exit), as well as the physiological condition of migrating smolts. Smolt traits of physiological condition such as osmoregulatory preparedness (gill NKA activity), body condition (Fulton's K) and stored energy (triglyceride and energetic density) are important predictors of behaviour. In addition, the physiological factors that best describe smolt behaviour change in importance throughout the smolt outmigration window.

Whether a smolt was tested at river-exit, estuary-entry, or ocean-entry had the strongest effect on the likelihood a smolt would prefer brackish or saltwater, after accounting for smolt physiology and size. This result is consistent with the stage of outmigration expected in the wild and provides support for the experimental approach taken. In this study, smolts were captured after lake-exit and held in a laboratory setting lacking variable environmental cues associated with out-migration behaviour such as changes in water temperature (Clark et al., 2016; Sykes & Shrimpton, 2010; Zydlewski et al., 2005), increasing photoperiod (Baggerman, 1960; McCormick et al., 2002), and changing river flow rate (Katzman et al., 2010; Sykes & Shrimpton, 2010). Despite the lack of environmental triggers of migration, I found that preference for brackish and saltwater increased at estuary-entry and was maintained through ocean-entry.

Changes in salinity preference of smolts throughout downstream migration are conserved even in laboratory conditions (Baggerman, 1960; McInerney, 1963; Otto & McInerney, 1970; Stich et al., 2016). This temporal dependence of migration behaviour, observed without environmental cues, is mainly attributed to physiological changes associated with osmoregulation (Baggerman, 1960; Stich et al., 2016; Sykes & Shrimpton, 2010; Zydlewski et al., 2005). In support of this, I found that salinity preference behaviour was best explained when physiological variables, notably gill osmoregulatory activity, stored energy, and physical condition, were included with outmigration stage as predictors.

Osmoregulation in smolts is an important component of salinity preference behaviour throughout the downstream migration. Salinity tolerance occurs prior to lake outmigration as a rapid, energetically demanding upregulation of gill NKA (Hoar, 1976; Iwata et al., 1990; McCormick, 2013), that remains relatively stable throughout the freshwater migration (Bassett et al., 2018). Thus, gill NKA activity levels are useful indicators for how prepared a smolt is for ocean-entry, and can provide insight on habitat selection through-out seaward migration. If salinity preference behaviour was solely driven by osmoregulation. I would expect a strong positive relationship between gill NKA activity and saltwater preference. Indeed, I found that gill NKA activity is a strong predictor of salinity preference throughout the downstream migration period, and that smolts with higher gill NKA activity are more likely to choose brackish or saltwater, supporting observations in Atlantic smolts (Stich et al., 2016; Stich et al., 2015). While my findings support the importance that osmoregulatory preparedness is an important component of migratory behaviour, as gill NKA activity was included as a variable in all top selected models, variables of stored energy and physical condition showed stronger effects on the salinity preference of migrating smolts.

In addition to smolt osmoregulatory preparedness, stored energy plays an essential role in smolt physiological transition and behaviour during outmigration. Increased metabolism is a signature of smoltification, where lipids are required for energetic demands of active swimming downstream (Fontaine & Baraduc, 1955; Hoar, 1976). Lipids are also linked to osmoregulation through changing

composition to make cell membranes less permeable to water loss and ion gain (Fontaine & Baraduc, 1955; Hoar, 1976). I did not find that lipid density was a strong predictor of smolt migration behaviour alone. However, accounting for lipid density, in addition to gill NKA activity and size, greatly improved the accuracy of predicting salinity preference across migration stages. Generally, smolts with higher lipid density were more likely to choose brackish and saltwater. Lipid depletion is also found in Atlantic smolts migrating from rivers to the ocean (Stefansson et al., 2003). These results suggest that smolts of both higher gill NKA activity and higher lipid stores may choose to enter the ocean habitat earlier than smolts of lower NKA activity and stored energy. The synergistic effect of osmoregulation and energetic condition may have important implications to the use of downstream habitats that vary in salinity and foraging opportunity.

At different stages of the smolt outmigration, different physiological variables were more important for predicting salinity preference behaviour. Physical condition (K, a ratio of mass to length) of smolts was most important for predicting behaviour at estuary-entry, yet at ocean-entry, energetic density (ED) was the best predictor. Previous work on migrating Chilko sockeye smolts found that swim performance increased with smolt K, and survival decreased when fasting smolts dropped below 3.47MJ/kg (Wilson et al., n.d.). I found that smolts of higher condition factor at estuary-entry are more likely to choose brackish or saltwater, while smolts of lower K are more likely to choose brackish or saltwater, while smolts of lower ED are more likely to choose freshwater. The trend in salinity preference observed suggests that smolts of lower physical (K) and energetic condition may choose to remain in the less saline waters of the estuary, rather than continue into full strength sea water.

Physical condition (K), not size, of smolts best explained migratory habitat choice behaviour. Smolt size is a strong indicator of migratory speed (Freshwater et al., 2019), coastal residency (Freshwater et al., 2019), and estuarine habitat use (Chalifour et al., 2020; Levings et al., 1983; Moore et al., 2016). Smolt size is also associated with higher predator avoidance capacity (Glova & McInerney,

1977), higher salinity tolerance (Conte & Wagner, 1965), and higher survival from smolts to adults (Henderson & Cass, 1991). Field observations in Chinook salmon found that larger smolts were predominantly found in more saline, predator-exposed, eelgrass habitat (Chalifour et al., 2020; Levings et al., 1983). Further, marine sampling of Chilko sockeye smolts found that smaller individuals rear in the Strait of Georgia for longer, while larger individuals pass through the strait rapidly (Beacham et al., 2014; Freshwater et al., 2019; Healey, 2011). Although smolt size and mass is a component of K, I did not find strong correlations between them. While I did not find evidence that fork length of smolts predicted salinity preference, physical condition (K), contributed strongly to habitat choice. K was also found to be a stronger predictor of swim performance than length or mass in migrating Chilko sockeye smolts (Wilson et al., n.d.). At estuary-entry, using the broad measurement of K was a better predictor of smolt behaviour than size or energetics independently. This may be because K is a coarse measure that can inherently encompass variation across a suite of important physiological variables, such as morphometrics, muscle mass and lipid content.

At estuary-entry, smolt physical condition (K) best predicted salinity preference, but at ocean-entry, energetic density (ED) became the strongest indicator of habitat choice. The shift in importance from a physical metric to an energetic metric of condition at ocean-entry is likely related to the diminishing energetic reserves at this late stage in outmigration. Migrating Atlantic smolts are shown to be 'energy deficient' from freshwater to early-ocean entry (Stefansson et al., 2003; Stefansson et al., 2012), while coho smolts sampled at early-ocean entry show gene expression indicative of fasting (Houde et al., 2019). Without significant feeding during active downstream migration, smolts rely on the energy that was stored before leaving the rearing habitat. In this study, smolts tested at ocean-entry had an average energetic density of 4.69 kJ g⁻¹ This is close to the 3.47 kJ g⁻¹ critical energy threshold for swim performance observed in Chilko sockeye smolts (Wilson et al., n.d.). Increased energy is also required for osmoregulation in marine environments. The metabolic rate of Chinook fry is

highest in saline water compared to freshwater (Morgan & Iwama, 1991). At ocean-entry, the amount of stored lipids is positively correlated to survival of juvenile Chinook (Burrows, 1969; Higgs et al., 1992). At this late stage of the smolt migration, energetic reserves would be of dire importance, and would very likely influence smolt behaviour to seek environmental conditions that impose the least energetic cost.

Osmoregulatory ability was independent of other physiological parameters, such as size, physical condition and energy stores. The independence of size and osmoregulatory function is also noted in Chilko sockeye smolts sampled in previous years (Bassett et al., 2018) and Atlantic smolts (Whalen et al., 1999). Work on coho salmon found that larger smolts develop higher gill NKA activities than smaller smolts, but this relationship diminishes throughout the outmigration window (Zaugg & McLain, 1972); Gill NKA activity was not correlated with energetic variables, such as lipid density, energetic density or triglyceride density. A smolt in high osmoregulatory condition may also be in poor energetic condition. Prior to lake-exit, and as an indicator of smoltification, gill NKA activity increases while lipid density declines (Larsen et al., 2000). After outmigration, I observed a linear decline in energy stores, but no significant change in gill NKA activity. Gill NKA activity remained stable through the experimental period that spanned the downstream migration from lake to estuary to ocean. This in-laboratory finding aligns with field observations of Chilko sockeye smolts intercepted throughout the freshwater stages of migration, where gill NKA activity remains relatively stable from lake-exit to pre-estuary entry (Bassett et al., 2018). The same trend was found in migrating Atlantic smolts where gill NKA activity was stable from freshwater to estuary-entry, and only increased once smolts entered the ocean (Stefansson et al., 2003). Smolt condition, therefore, should be assessed using multiple traits of condition specifically related to the adaptations required for the life stage in question. As seen in this study, one trait or condition metric does not encompass the full breadth of physiological status in smolts with respect to understanding critical movement behaviours such as salinity preference.

Although ranges of smolt physiology align with those of outmigrating salmon measured for lipid, protein densities and gill NKA activity (Bassett et al., 2018; Stefansson et al., 2003; Stefansson et al., 2012), some surprising findings of smolt migration physiology remain as outliers. I found evidence of protein catabolism during the freshwater, non-feeding downstream migration. Decreases in protein densities from freshwater to the ocean were also seen in migrating Atlantic smolts (Stefansson et al., 2003). I saw a surprising decrease in fork length of randomly sampled smolts over holding time. As all fish had completed smoltification upon initial capture at lake-exit, morphological changes associated with smolting (Hamon & Foote, 2000) is unlikely, but possible. Triglyceride (TAG) density, the dominant form of stored lipid energy in vertebrates, showed an opposite effect on salinity preference than overall lipid density. Smolts with higher densities of TAG were more likely to prefer saltwater at estuary-entry, though the probability only reached 50% at extremely high, and potentially unrealistic, densities of TAG (when over half of all lipid stores were TAG). My estimates of TAG densities were well above densities reported for the same population in the previous year (Wilson et al., n.d.). This study also found that TAG densities were not the strongest predictors of smolt swim performance and survival (Wilson et al., n.d.). The shift in behaviour at extremely high TAG densities should be noted cautiously, yet warrants further investigation on the role of TAG in migration energetics.

Limitations and recommendations for further study

The estuary environment encompasses a suite of gradients that a migrating smolt experiences, such as food abundance, predation risk, temperature, depth, flow rate, and turbidity (Manel-La et al., 2009). A salinity gradient is one very simplified way to represent an estuary, and choice experiments are one simplified way to infer habitat choice. Future work should attempt combinations of multiple variables of the estuarine environment, such as turbidity, temperature and salinity preference. One of the larger assumptions of this study was that smolts do not feed during the downstream migration period,

and although supported by field observations of empty stomachs in migrating wild smolt (Beamish et al., 2012; Neville et al., 2016) and gene expression indicative of fasting at ocean-entry (Houde et al., 2019), the effects of starvation and migration stage in this experiment are inherently coupled. An effect of feeding on salinity preference behaviour is worth investigating further. This could incorporate other behavioural metrics such as consumption rate in different salinities to show growth potential in regards to habitat choice within estuaries and coastal regions (see Webster & Dill, 2007).

Physiological and behavioural assays commonly produce high individual variation. In anticipation of this, I chose to prioritize sample size over experimental duration to increase predictive power. Handling and predator stress is known to decrease saltwater preference in Chinook smolts (Price & Schreck, 2003b) and this stress effect may account, in part, for the high freshwater preference observed in my 2 hour experiments. Extending preference observational experiments to 24 hours at each migration stage (the approximate duration of Chilko sockeye transit through the estuary) would allow for recovery from handling stress. In addition, it would allow for comparison of diurnal and nocturnal differences in smolt migration behaviour, as has been noted for Chilko sockeye at lake-exit (Clark et al., 2016), and salmonid smolts in other systems (Quinn, 2018).

Gill NKA activity is one broad metric for estimating salinity tolerance in teleosts (McCormick et al., 2009). Gill NKA activity measured in freshwater did not correlate to activity when measured later in saltwater in Atlantic smolts (Zydlewski & Zydlewski, 2012). This is likely because the gill NKA enzyme has two isoforms which alternate expression in different salinities; the α 1a subunit is expressed highly in freshwater, and the α 1b subunit is expressed in saltwater (McCormick et al., 2009; Richards et al., 2003; Stefansson et al., 2012). In this study, all smolts were held in freshwater and exposed to saline water in choice experiments for up to one hour, so differentiating between gill NKA isoforms would not likely alter results. Coupling salinity preference and tolerance experiments throughout smolt migration would mitigate this assumption, and

provide a powerful link between behaviour, physiology and survival (see Stich et al., 2016).

This study was conducted on a population of sockeye from Chilko lake. and these behavioural trends may be adaptations that are not transferable to other populations, species or watersheds. Sockeye is a species that does not typically reside extensively in estuaries; however many populations show variation from the typical 1-2 year lake residency, where individuals enter the estuary and coastal waters as fry (Quinn, 2018). This is known as a 'sea-type' or 'ocean-type' life history. While this life-history strategy may be rare, Harrison Lake ocean-type juvenile sockeye represented 27.9% and 27.6% of total sockeye production in the Fraser River in 2009 and 2011, respectively (Beamish et al., 2016). Non-Harrison ocean-type sockeye made up 1.5% of smolts in the Strait of Georgia from 2014 to 2016 (Freshwater et al., 2018). Mechanistic understanding of juvenile sockeye estuary use is lacking, and this may be especially important for populations with ocean-type life history that may use estuaries as nursery habitat, such as the population from Harrison Lake (see Hodgson et al., 2020). Future work should focus on comparing salinity preference with ocean-type sockeye populations or other species of salmon known to occupy estuaries for longer periods, such as Chinook or coho (Chalifour et al., 2019, 2020).

Conclusion

Salinity preference tests conducted throughout the juvenile salmon migration period suggest that smolt physiological condition upon reaching the estuary has the potential to influence migratory behaviour and habitat selection. These results provide novel evidence on the temporally dependent interaction between physiology, behaviour and migration in juvenile Pacific salmon. With the knowledge that many physiological factors undergo changes during outmigration (McCormick, 2013), our findings further highlight the importance of assessing multiple systems in smolt physiology to explain migratory behaviour. As juvenile migratory behaviour is linked to physiological condition, and physiological condition is determined by productivity and competition within the rearing habitat, the importance of estuaries likely varies across years and within a population cohort; thus estuaries may be of heightened importance for wild juvenile salmon in years of poor freshwater growth conditions. Conservation of behavioural diversity in the use of estuaries can act as a buffer, enhancing the resilience of populations to environmental change (Flitcroft et al., 2018). These findings support the growing body of evidence on the importance of conserving both rearing habitat for juvenile growth potential, and estuarine habitat for smolt refugia before ocean entry.

References

- Atlas, W. I., Ban, N. C., Moore, J. W., Tuohy, A. M., Greening, S., Reid, A. J., Morven, N., White, E., Housty, W. G., Housty, J. A., Service, C. N., Greba, L., Harrison, S., Sharpe, C., Butts, K. I. R., Shepert, W. M., Sweeney-Bergen, E., Macintyre, D., Sloat, M. R., & Connors, K. (2021). Indigenous Systems of Management for Culturally and Ecologically Resilient Pacific Salmon (Oncorhynchus spp.) Fisheries . *BioScience*, *71*(2), 186–204. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biaa144
- B.C. Wild Salmon Advisory Council. (2019). Recommendations for a Made-in-B.C. Wild Salmon Strategy. In *Province of British Columbia*.
- Baggerman, B. (1960). Salinity preference, thyroid activity and the seaward migration of four species of Pacific salmon (Oncorhynchus). *Journal of Fisheries Research Board of Canada*, *17*(3), 295–322.
- Bams, R. A. (1967). Differences in performance of naturally and artificially propagated sockeye salmon migrant fry, as measured with swimming and predation tests. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada*, 24(5), 1117–1153. https://doi.org/10.1139/f67-094
- Bassett, M. C. (2015). Temporal and spatial differences in smolting among sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) populations throughout fresh- and seawater migration and the effect of water temperature on the smolt window (Issue August). University of Northern British Columbia.
- Bassett, M. C., Patterson, D. A., & Shrimpton, J. M. (2018). Temporal and spatial differences in smolting among Oncorhynchus nerka populations throughout fresh and seawater migration. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 93(3), 510–518. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.13678
- Bassett, Marley C., Patterson, D. A., & Shrimpton, J. M. (2018). Temporal and spatial differences in smolting among Oncorhynchus nerka populations throughout fresh and seawater migration. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 93(3), 510–518. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.13678
- Beacham, T. D., Beamish, R. J., Candy, J. R., Wallace, C., Tucker, S., Moss, J. H., & Trudel, M. (2014). Stock-specific migration pathways of juvenile Sockeye Salmon in British Columbia waters and in the Gulf of Alaska. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, *143*(6), 1386–1403. https://doi.org/10.1080/00028487.2014.935476
- Beamish, R. J., Neville, C., Sweeting, R., & Lange, K. (2012). The synchronous failure of juvenile pacific salmon and herring production in the strait of georgia in 2007 and the poor return of sockeye salmon to the Fraser river in 2009. *Marine and Coastal Fisheries*, 4(1), 403–414. https://doi.org/10.1080/19425120.2012.676607

Beamish, Richard J, Neville, C. M., Sweeting, R. M., Beacham, T. D., Wade, J.,

& Li, L. (2016). Early ocean life history of Harrison river sockeye salmon and their contribution to the biodiversity of sockeye salmon in the Fraser river, British Columbia, Canada. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, *145*(2), 348–362. https://doi.org/10.1080/00028487.2015.1123182

- Bilder, C. R., & Loughin, T. M. (2014). *Analysis of Categorical Data with R*. Chapman and Hall/CRC. https://doi.org/10.1201/b17211, .
- Birtwell, Nassichuk, & Beune. (1987). Underyearling sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) in the esturay of the Fraser River. *Canadian Special Publication of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 96, 25–35.
- Bligh, E.G. and Dyer, W. J. (1959). A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. *Canadian Journal of Biochemistry and Physiology*, *37*(8), 911–917.
- Breck, J. E. (2008). Enhancing bioenergetics models to account for dynamic changes in fish body composition and energy density. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, *137*, 340–356. https://doi.org/10.1577/t05-240.1
- Brett, J. R. (1995). Energetics. In C. Groot, L. Margolis, & W. C. Clark (Eds.), *Physiological Ecology of Pacific Salmon* (pp. 3–63). UBC Press.

Brett, J. R., & Groves, T. D. D. (1979). Physiological energetics. *Fish Physiology*, *8*(6), 280–352.

- Brown, C. J., Parker, B., Hocking, M. D., & Reynolds, J. D. (2020). Salmon abundance and patterns of forest greenness as measured by satellite imagery. *Science of the Total Environment*, 725. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138448
- Bruzzone, O. A., & Corley, J. C. (2011). Which is the best experimental design in animal choice tests? *Animal Behaviour*, *82*(1), 161–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2011.03.027
- Burnham, K. P., Anderson, D. R., & Huyvaert, K. P. (2011). AIC model selection and multimodel inference in behavioral ecology: Some background, observations, and comparisons. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 65(1), 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-010-1029-6
- Burrows, R. E. (1969). The influence of fingerling quality on adult salmon survivals. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, *98*(4), 777–784.
- Carr-Harris, C., Gottesfeld, A. S., & Moore, J. W. (2015). Juvenile salmon usage of the Skeena River estuary. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(3), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118988
- Chalifour, L., Scott, D. C., MacDuffee, M., Iacarella, J. C., Martin, T. G., & Baum, J. K. (2019). Habitat use by juvenile salmon, other migratory fish, and resident fish species underscores the importance of estuarine habitat mosaics. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 625(August), 145–162. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps13064

Chalifour, L., Scott, D. C., MacDuffee, M., Stark, S., Dower, J. F., Beacham, T.

D., Martin, T. G., & Baum, J. K. (2020). Chinook salmon exhibit long-term rearing and early marine growth in the Fraser River, B.C., a large urban estuary. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, *December*. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2020-0247

- Clark, T. D., Furey, N. B., Rechisky, E. L., Gale, M. K., Jeffries, K. M., Porter, A. D., Casselman, M. T., Lotto, A. G., Patterson, D. A., Cooke, S. J., Farrell, A. P., Welch, D. W., & Hinch, S. G. (2016). Tracking wild sockeye salmon smolts to the ocean reveals distinct regions of nocturnal movement and high mortality. *Ecological Applications*, *26*(4), n/a-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1890/15-0632
- Conte, F. P., & Wagner, H. H. (1965). Development of osmotic and ionic regulation in juvenile steelhead trout Salmo gairdneri. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology*, *14*(4), 603–620.
- Crossin, G. T., Hinch, S. G., Farrell, A. P., Higgs, D. A., Lotto, A. G., Oakes, J. D., & Healey, M. C. (2004). Energetics and morphology of sockeye salmon: Effects of upriver migratory distance and elevation. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 65(3), 788–810. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-1112.2004.00486.x
- Cunjakl, R. A. (1988). Physiological consequences of overwintering in streams: The cost of acclimation? *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, *45*, 443–425.
- Elsner, R. A., & Shrimpton, J. M. (2018). Is the duration of the smolt window related to migration distance in coho salmon Oncorhynchus kisutch? *Journal of Fish Biology*, 93(3), 501–509. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.13679
- Evans, D. H., Piermarini, P. M., & Choe, K. P. (2005). The multifunctional fish gill: Dominant site of gas exchange, osmoregulation, acid-base regulation, and excretion of nitrogenous waste. *Physiological Reviews*, *85*(1), 97–177. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00050.2003
- Flitcroft, R. L., Arismendi, I., & Santelmann, M. V. (2018). A review of habitat connectivity research for Pacific salmon in marine, estuary, and freshwater environments. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/1752-1688.12708
- Fontaine, M., & Baraduc, M. M. (1955). Influence de la caséine iodée et de la thyroxine sur la croissance de la jeune truite arc-en-ciel (Salmo gairdneri). *Bulletin Francais de Pisciculture*, *27*(176), 89–98.
- Fox, J., Weisberg, S., & Price, B. (2018). *car: Companion to Applied Regression*. https://cran.r-project.org/package=car
- Fraser Basin Council. (2013). Bridge Between Nations A History of First Nations in the Fraser River Basin. 26. https://www.fraserbasin.bc.ca/_Library/Ab_NonAb_Relations/bridge_betwee n_nations.pdf
- Fréon, P., Gerlotto, F., & Misund, O. A. (1993). Consequences of fish behaviour for stock assessment. *ICES Marine Science Symposium*, *196*, 190–195.

http://www.ur097.ird.fr/team/pfreon/PDF/Freon_Gerlotto_Misund_ICES_Mar _Symp_1993.pdf

- Freshwater, C., Trudel, M., Beacham, T. D., Gauthier, S., Johnson, S. C., Neville, C.-E., & Juanes, F. (2018). Individual variation, population-specific behaviours and stochastic processes shape marine migration phenologies. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 0–2. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12852
- Freshwater, C., Trudel, M., Beacham, T. D., Gauthier, S., Johnson, S. C., Neville, C. E., & Juanes, F. (2019). Individual variation, population-specific behaviours and stochastic processes shape marine migration phenologies. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 88(1), 67–78. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12852
- Furey, N. B., Hinch, S. G., Bass, A. L., Middleton, C. T., Minke-Martin, V., & Lotto, A. G. (2016). Predator swamping reduces predation risk during nocturnal migration of juvenile salmon in a high-mortality landscape. *Journal* of Animal Ecology, 948–959. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12528
- Glova, G. J., & McInerney, J. E. (1977). Critical swimming speeds of coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch) fry to smolt stages in relation to salinity and temperature. *Journal of Fisheries Research Board of Canada*, *34*, 151–154.
- Greenberg, R., & Mettke-Hofmann, C. (2001). Ecological aspects of neophobia and neophilia in birds. In V. N. Jr. (Ed.), *Current Ornithology, Volume 16* (pp. 119–178). Kluwer Academic / Plenum Publishers.
- Hakanson, J. L., Coombs, S. H., & Ré, P. (1994). Lipid and elemental composition of sprat (Sprattus sprattus) larvae at mixed and stratified sites in the German Bight of the North-Sea. *Journal of Marine Science*, *51*, 147–154.
- Hamon, T. R., & Foote, C. J. (2000). Changes in Midorbital to Hypural Length and Morphology in Maturing Sockeye Salmon. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 20(1), 245–249. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8675(2000)020<0245:cimthl>2.0.co;2
- Healey, M. (2011). The cumulative impacts of climate change on Fraser River sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) and implications for management. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 68(4), 718–737. https://doi.org/10.1139/f2011-010
- Hedger, R. D., Martin, F., Hatin, D., Caron, F., Whoriskey, F. G., & Dodson, J. J. (2008). Active migration of wild Atlantic salmon Salmo salar smolt through a coastal embayment. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *355*(Taylor 1986), 235–246. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07239
- Henderson, M. A., & Cass, A. J. (1991). Effect of smolt size on smolt-to-adult survival for Chilko lake sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka). *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.*, *48*, 988–999.
- Higgs, D. A. (1979). Development of practical diets for coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch), using poultry byproduct meal, feather meal, soybean meal and rapeseed meal as major protein sources. *Proceedings of*

the World Symposium on Finfish Nutrition and Fishfeed Technology, 2, 191–218.

- Higgs, D. A., Dosanjh, B. S., Plotnikoff, M. D., Markert, J. R., Lawseth, D., McBride, J. R., & Buckley, J. T. (1992). Influence of dietary protein to lipid ratio and lipid composition on the performance and marine survival of hatchery reared chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha). *Bull Aquac Assoc Can*, *92*, 46–48.
- Hoar, W. S. (1976). Smolt transformation: Evolution, behavior, and physiology. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada*, *33*, 1233–1252. https://doi.org/10.1139/f76-158
- Hoar, W. S., Keenleyside, M. H. A., & Goodall, R. G. (1957). Reactions of juvenile Pacific salmon to light. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada*, 14(6), 815–830. https://doi.org/10.1139/f57-036
- Hodgson, E. E., Halpern, B. S., & Essington, T. E. (2019). Moving beyond silos in cumulative effects assessment. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 7(JUN), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2019.00211
- Hodgson, E. E., Wilson, S. M., & Moore, J. W. (2020). Changing estuaries and impacts on juvenile salmon : A systematic review. *Global Change Biology*, *00*(November 2019), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14997
- Horodysky, A. Z., Cooke, S. J., & Brill, R. W. (2015). Physiology in the service of fisheries science: Why thinking mechanistically matters. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 25(3), 425–447. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-015-9393-y
- Houde, A. L. S., Akbarzadeh, A., Günther, O. P., Li, S., Patterson, D. A., Farrell, A. P., Hinch, S. G., & Miller, K. M. (2019). Salmonid gene expression biomarkers indicative of physiological responses to changes in salinity and temperature, but not dissolved oxygen. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 222(13), jeb198036. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.198036
- Houston, A. H. (1957). Responses of juvenile chum, pink, and coho salmon to sharp sea-water gradients. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, *35*(3), 371–383. https://doi.org/10.1139/z57-028
- Hvas, M., Stien, L. H., & Oppedal, F. (2021). The effect of fasting period on swimming performance, blood parameters and stress recovery in Atlantic salmon post smolts. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology -Part A*: *Molecular and Integrative Physiology*, 255(January), 110913. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2021.110913
- Idler, D. R., & Clemens, W. A. (1959). *The Energy Expenditures of Fraser River Sockeye Salmon during the Spawning Migration to Chilko and Stuart Lakes.*
- Iwata, M., & Komatsu, S. (1984). Importance of estuarine residence for adaptation of chum salmon (Oncorhynchus keta) fry to sea water. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 41(5), 744–749. https://doi.org/10.1139/f84-086

- Iwata, M., Yamauchi, K., Nishioka, R. S., Lin, R., & Bern, H. A. (1990). Effects of thyroxine, growth hormone and cortisol on salinity preference of juvenile coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch). *Marine Behaviour and Physiology*, *17*(4), 191–201. https://doi.org/10.1080/10236249009378770
- Jeffries, K. E. N. M., Hinch, S. G., Gale, M. K., Clark, T. D., Lotto, A. G., Casselman, M. T., Li, S., & Rechisky, E. L. (2014). *Immune response genes and pathogen presence predict migration survival in wild salmon smolts*. 5803–5815. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.12980
- Johnson, B., Gan, J., Godwin, S., Krkosek, M., & Hunt, B. (2019). Juvenile Salmon Migration Observations in the Discovery Islands and Johnstone Strait in 2018 Compared to 2015–2017. *Technical Report*, *15*, 31–39. https://doi.org/10.23849/npafctr15/31.39.
- Jones, K. K., Cornwell, T. J., Bottom, D. L., Campbell, L. A., & Stein, S. (2014). The contribution of estuary-resident life histories to the return of adult Oncorhynchus kisutch. *Journal of Fish Biology*, *85*, 52–80. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.12380
- Jonsson, B., Duffy, E. J., & Beauchamp, D. A. (2011). Rapid growth in the early marine period improves the marine survival of Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) in Puget Sound, Washington. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 68(2), 232–240. https://doi.org/10.1139/F10-144
- Kassambara, A. (2020a). ggpubr: "ggplot2" Based Publication Ready Plots. https://cran.r-project.org/package=ggpubr
- Kassambara, A. (2020b). *rstatix: Pipe-Friendly Framework for Basic Statistical Tests*. https://cran.r-project.org/package=rstatix
- Katzman, S. M., Greathouse, J., Roessig, J. M., Graham, J., Cocherell, D. E., & Cech, J. J. (2010). Water velocity preferences of coho salmon during the parr-smolt transformation. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 88, 79–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-010-9619-8
- Larsen, D. A., Beckman, B. R., Sharpe, C., Lee-Pawlak, B., Schreck, C. B., & Dickhoff, W. W. (2000). Physiological status of naturally reared juvenile spring chinook salmon in the Yakima river: Seasonal dynamics and changes associated with smolting. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, *129*, 727–753. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(2000)129<0727:psonrj>2.3.co;2
- Lennox, R. J., Paukert, C. P., Aarestrup, K., Auger-Méthé, M., Baumgartner, L., Birnie-Gauvin, K., Bøe, K., Brink, K., Brownscombe, J. W., Chen, Y., Davidsen, J. G., Eliason, E. J., Filous, A., Gillanders, B. M., Helland, I. P., Horodysky, A. Z., Januchowski-Hartley, S. R., Lowerre-Barbieri, S. K., Lucas, M. C., ... Cooke, S. J. (2019). One hundred pressing questions on the future of global fish migration science, conservation, and policy. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 7, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2019.00286

- Levings, C. D., Greer, G. L., & Miller, P. (1983). *Results of Preliminary Mark-Recapture Experiments with Juvenile Salmonids on Sturgeon and Roberts Bank, Fraser River Estuary* (Issue 1684).
- Levy, D. A., & Northcote, T. G. (1982). Juvenile salmon residency in a marsh area of the Fraser river estuary. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 39, 270–276. https://doi.org/10.1139/f82-038
- Lochmann, S. Y. E., Gary, L., Taggart, G. T., & Maillet, K. T. F. (1995). Lipid class composition as a measure of nutritional condition in individual larval Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, *52*, 1294–1306.
- Magnusson, A., & Hilborn, R. (2003). Estuarine influence on survival rates of coho kisutch) and chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha) released from hatcheries on the U.S. Pacific coast. *Estuaries*, *26*(4B), 1094–1103.
- Mazerolle, M. J. (2020). *AICcmodavg: Model Selection and Multimodel Inference Based on (Q)AIC(c)*. https://cran.r-project.org/package=AICcmodavg
- McCormick, S. D., Regish, A. M., & Christensen, A. K. (2009). Distinct freshwater and seawater isoforms of Na+/K +-ATPase in gill chloride cells of Atlantic salmon. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 212(24), 3994–4001. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.037275
- McCormick, Stephen D. (1993). Methods for nonlethal gill biopsy and measurement of Na+, K+-ATPase Activity. In *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* (Vol. 50, pp. 656–658). https://doi.org/10.1139/f93-075
- McCormick, Stephen D. (2013). Smolt Physiology and Endocrinology. In *Fish Physiology* (Vol. 32). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-396951-4.00005-0
- McCormick, Stephen D., Lerner, D. T., Monette, M. Y., Nieves-Puigdoller, K., Kelly, J. T., & Björnsson, B. T. (2009). Taking it with you when you go: How perturbations to the freshwater environment, including temperature, dams, and contaminants, affect marine survival of salmon. *American Fisheries Society Symposium*, 69, 195–214.

http://www.researchgate.net/publication/224728806_Taking_It_with_You_W hen_You_Go_How_Perturbations_to_the_Freshwater_Environment_Includi ng_Temperature_Dams_and_Contaminants_Affect_Marine_Survival_of_Sal mon/file/79e415062f58de0509.pdf%5Cnpapers3://publicat

- McCormick, Stephen D., Shrimpton, J. M., Moriyama, S., & Björnsson, B. T. (2002). Effects of an advanced temperature cycle on smolt development and endocrinology indicate that temperature is not a zeitgeber for smolting in Atlantic salmon. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, *205*(22), 3553–3560.
- McInerney, J. E. (1963). Salinity Preference An Orientation Mechanism in Salmon Migration. University of British Columbia.
- Meador, J. P., & MacLatchy, D. (2014). Do chemically contaminated river estuaries in Puget Sound (Washington, USA) affect the survival rate of

hatchery-reared Chinook salmon? *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, *71*(1), 162–180. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2013-0130

- Melnychuk, M. C., Welch, D. W., & Walters, C. J. (2010). Spatio-temporal migration patterns of Pacific Salmon smolts in rivers and coastal marine waters. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0012916
- Minke-Martin, V., Hinch, S. G., Braun, D. C., Burnett, N. J., Casselman, M. T., Eliason, E. J., & Middleton, C. T. (2018). Physiological condition and migratory experience affect fitness-related outcomes in adult female sockeye salmon. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 27, 296–309. https://doi.org/10.1111/eff.12347
- Moore, J. W., Gordon, J., Carr-Harris, C., Gottesfeld, A. S., Wilson, S. M., & Russell, J. H. (2016). Assessing estuaries as stopover habitats for juvenile pacific salmon. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 559, 201–215. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps11933
- Morgan, J. D., & Iwama, G. K. (1991). Effects of salinity on growth, metabolism, and ion regulation in juvenile rainbow and steelhead trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) and fall chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 48, 2083–2094. https://doi.org/10.1139/f91-247
- Morrice, K. J., Baptista, A. M., & Burke, B. J. (2020). Environmental and behavioral controls on juvenile Chinook salmon migration pathways in the Columbia River estuary. *Ecological Modelling*, *427*(October 2019), 109003. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2020.109003
- Moser, M. L., Olson, A. F., & Quinn, T. P. (1991). Riverine and estuarine migratory behavior of coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch) smolts. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 48(9), 1670–1678. https://doi.org/10.1139/f91-198
- Naiman, R. J., Bilby, R. E., Schindler, D. E., & Helfield, J. M. (2002). Pacific salmon, nutrients, and the dynamics of freshwater and riparian ecosystems. *Ecosystems*, *5*(4), 399–417. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-001-0083-3
- Neiffer, D. L., & Stamper, M. A. (2009). Fish sedation, anesthesia, analgesia, and euthanasia: Considerations, methods, and types of drugs. *ILAR Journal*, *50*(4), 343–360. https://doi.org/10.1093/ilar.50.4.343
- Neville, C.-E., Johnson, S., Beacham, T., Whitehouse, T., Tadey, J., & Trudel, M. (2016). Initial Estimates from an Integrated Study Examining the Residence Period and Migration Timing of Juvenile Sockeye Salmon from the Fraser River through Coastal Waters of British Columbia. *North Pacific Anadromous Fish Commission Bulletin*, 6(1), 45–60. https://doi.org/10.23849/npafcb6/45-60
- Nielsen, C., Aarestrup, K., Nørum, U., & Madsen, S. S. (2004). Future migratory behaviour predicted from premigratory levels of gill Na+/K+-ATPase activity in individual wild brown trout (Salmo trutta). *Journal of Experimental Biology*,

207, 527–533. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.00783

- Northcote, T. G., & Atagi, D. Y. (1997). Pacific salmon abundance trends in the Fraser river watershed compared with other British Columbia systems. In *Pacific Salmon & their Ecosystems* (pp. 199–219). Springer.
- Osterback, A.-M. K., Frechette, D. M., Hayes, S. A., Bond, M. H., Shaffer, S. A., Moore, J. W., & Jonsson, B. (2014). Linking individual size and wild and hatchery ancestry to survival and predation risk of threatened steelhead (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 71(12), 1877–1887. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2014-0097
- Otto, R. G., & McInerney, J. E. (1970). Development of salinity preference in presmolt coho salmon, Oncorhynchus kisutch. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada*, *27*(4), 793–800. https://doi.org/10.1139/f70-081
- Plantalech Manel-La, N., Thorstad, E. B., Davidsen, J. G., Økland, F., Sivertsgård, R., Mckinley, R. S., & Finstad, B. (2009). Vertical movements of Atlantic salmon post-smolts relative to measures of salinity and water temperature during the first phase of the marine migration. *Fisheries Management and Ecology*, *16*(2), 147–154. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2400.2009.00658.x
- Post, J. R., & Parkinson, E. A. (2001). Energy allocation strategy in young fish: Allometry and survival. *Ecology*, 82(4), 1040–1051.
- Preikshot, D., Beamish, R. J., Sweeting, R. M., Neville, C. M., & Beacham, T. D. (2012). The residence time of juvenile Fraser river sockeye salmon in the strait of Georgia. *Marine and Coastal Fisheries*, 4(1), 438–449. https://doi.org/10.1080/19425120.2012.683235
- Price, C. S., & Schreck, C. B. (2003a). *Effects of bacterial kidney disease on saltwater preference of juvenile spring chinook salmon , Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*. 222, 331–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(03)00131-5
- Price, C. S., & Schreck, C. B. (2003b). Stress and saltwater-entry behavior of juvenile chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha): Conflicts in physiological motivation. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 60(8), 910–918. https://doi.org/10.1139/f03-080
- Quinn, T. P. (2018). *The Behaviour and Ecology of Pacific Salmon and Trout* (Second edi). UBC press Vancouver.
- R Core Team. (2018). *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. https://www.r-project.org/
- Ramenofsky, M., & Wingfield, J. C. (2007). Regulation of migration. *BioScience*, 57(2), 135–143. https://doi.org/10.1641/B570208
- Réale, D., Reader, S. M., Sol, D., McDougall, P. T., & Dingemanse, N. J. (2007). Integrating animal temperament within ecology and evolution. *Biological Reviews*, *82*(2), 291–318. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2007.00010.x
- Reid, A. J., Eckert, L. E., Lane, J. F., Young, N., Hinch, S. G., Darimont, C. T.,

Cooke, S. J., Ban, N. C., & Marshall, A. (2021). "Two-Eyed Seeing": An Indigenous framework to transform fisheries research and management. *Fish and Fisheries*, *22*(2), 243–261. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12516

- Reimers, P. E. (1971). *The Length of Residence of Juvenile Fall Chinook Salmon in Sixes River, Oregon*. Oregon State University.
- Richards, J. G., Semple, J. W., Bystriansky, J. S., & Schulte, P. M. (2003). Na+/K+-ATPase α-isoform switching in gills of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) during salinity transfer. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 206(24), 4475–4486. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.00701
- Ripley, B. (2020). *MASS: Support Functions and Datasets for Venables and Ripley's MASS*. https://cran.r-project.org/package=MASS
- Sheaves, M., Baker, R., Nagelkerken, I., & Connolly, R. M. (2015). True value of estuarine and coastal nurseries for fish: Incorporating complexity and dynamics. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 38(2), 401–414. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-014-9846-x
- Shrimpton, J. M., Patterson, D. A., Richards, J. G., Cooke, S. J., Schulte, P. M., Hinch, S. G., & Farrell, A. P. (2005). Ionoregulatory changes in different populations of maturing sockeye salmon Oncorhynchus nerka during ocean and river migration. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 208(21), 4069–4078. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.01871
- Simenstad, C. A., Fresh, K. L., & Salo, E. O. (1982). THE ROLE OF PUGET SOUND AND WASHINGTON COASTAL ESTUARIES IN THE LIFE HISTORY OF PACIFIC SALMON: AN UNAPPRECIATED FUNCTION. In *Estuarine Comparisons* (Issue December 1982, pp. 343–364). https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-404070-0.50026-0
- Sogard, S. M., & Olla, B. L. (2000). Endurance of simulated winter conditions by age-0 walleye pollock: Effects of body size, water temperature and energy stores. *Journal of Fish Biology*, *56*(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1006/jfbi.1999.1136
- Stefanelli, R. D., Castleden, H., Cunsolo, A., Martin, D., Harper, S. L., & Hart, C. (2017). Canadian and Australian researchers' perspectives on promising practices for implementing Indigenous and Western knowledge systems in water research and management. *Water Policy*, *19*(6), 1063–1080. https://doi.org/10.2166/wp.2017.181
- Stefansson, S. O., Björnsson, B. T., Sundell, K., Nyhammer, G., & McCormick, S. D. (2003). Physiological characteristics of wild Atlantic salmon post-smolts during estuarine and coastal migration. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 63(4), 942–955. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1095-8649.2003.00201.x
- Stefansson, Sigurd O., Haugland, M., Björnsson, B. T., McCormick, S. D., Holm, M., Ebbesson, L. O. E., Holst, J. C., & Nilsen, T. O. (2012). Growth, osmoregulation and endocrine changes in wild Atlantic salmon smolts and post-smolts during marine migration. *Aquaculture*, 362–363, 127–136.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2011.07.002

- Stich, D S, Zydlewski, G. B., & Zydlewski, J. D. (2016). Physiological preparedness and performance of Atlantic salmon Salmo salar smolts in relation to behavioural salinity preferences and thresholds. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 88(2), 595–617. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.12853
- Stich, Daniel S., Zydlewski, G. B., Kocik, J. F., & Zydlewski, J. D. (2015). Linking Behavior, Physiology, and Survival of Atlantic Salmon Smolts During Estuary Migration. *Marine and Coastal Fisheries*, 7(1), 68–86. https://doi.org/10.1080/19425120.2015.1007185
- Sykes, G. E., & Shrimpton, J. M. (2010). Effect of temperature and current manipulation on smolting in chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha): The relationship between migratory behaviour and physiological development. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 67(1), 191–201. https://doi.org/10.1139/F09-166
- Takei, Y., Miyanishi, H., Nobata, S., Wong, M., Watanabe, T., Ventura, A., Shiozawa, A., Hyodo, S., & Kusakabe, M. (2013). Establishment and validation of an aquarium system to evaluate salinity preference in conscious rainbow trout. *Coastal Marine Science*, *36*(1), 26–34.
- Taylor, E. B., & McPhail, J. D. (1985a). Burst swimming and size-related predation of newly emerged coho salmon Oncorhynchus kisutch. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, *114*, 546–551. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1985)114<546:bsaspo>2.0.co;2
- Taylor, E. B., & McPhail, J. D. (1985b). Variation in burst and prolonged swimming performance among British Columbia populations of coho salmon, Oncorhynchus kisutch. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 42(12), 2029–2033. https://doi.org/10.1139/f85-250
- Tierney, K. B., Patterson, D. A., & Kennedy, C. J. (2009). The influence of maternal condition on offspring performance in sockeye salmon Oncorhynchus nerka. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 75(6), 1244–1257. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2009.02360.x
- Trudel, M., Canada, O., Morris, J. F. T., Canada, O., Higgs, D. A., & Fisheries, R. S. (2005). Indicators of energetic status in juvenile coho salmon and chinook salmon Indicators of Energetic Status in Juvenile Coho Salmon and Chinook Salmon. February. https://doi.org/10.1577/M04-018.1
- Tucker, S., Hipfner, J. M., & Trudel, M. (2016). Size- and condition- dependent predation: a seabird disproportionately targets substandard individual juvenile salmon Strahan. *Ecology*, 97(2), 461–471. https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP03(2012)085
- Venables, W. N., & Ripley, B. D. (2002). *Modern Applied Statistics with S* (Fourth). Springer. http://www.stats.ox.ac.uk/pub/MASS4
- Wallis, S. (2013). Binomial confidence intervals and contingency tests: Mathematical fundamentals and the evaluation of alternative methods.

Journal of Quantitative Linguistics, *20*(3), 178–208. https://doi.org/10.1080/09296174.2013.799918

- Weber, L. P., Higgins, P. S., Carlson, R. I., & Janz, D. M. (2003). Development and validation of methods for measuring multiple biochemical indices of condition in juvenile fishes. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 63, 637–658. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1095-8649.2003.00178.x
- Webster, M. S., Marra, P. P., Haig, S. M., Bensch, S., & Holmes, R. T. (2002). Links between worlds: Unraveling migratory connectivity. *Trends in Ecology* and Evolution, 17(2), 76–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(01)02380-1
- Webster, S. J., & Dill, L. M. (2007). Estimating the energetic cost of abiotic conditions using foraging behaviour. *Evolutionary Ecology Research*, 9(1), 123–143.
- Webster, S. J., Dill, L. M., & Butterworth, K. (2007). The effect of sea lice infestation on the salinity preference and energetic expenditure of juvenile pink salmon (Oncorhynchus gorbuscha). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 64(4), 672–680. https://doi.org/10.1139/F07-043
- Whalen, K. G., Parrish, D. L., & McCormick, S. D. (1999). Migration Timing of Atlantic Salmon Smolts Relative to Environmental and Physiological Factors. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 128(2), 289–301.
- Wilcove, D. S., & Wikelski, M. (2008). Going, going, gone: Is animal migration disappearing? *PLoS Biology*, 6(7), 1361–1364. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0060188
- Wilson, S. M., Robinson, K. A., Gutzmann, S., Moore, J. W., & Patterson, D. A. (n.d.). Limits on performance and survival during long distance migration of juvenile sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) during food deprivation: a laboratory-based study. *Conservation Physiology*. https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/coab014
- Zaugg, W. S., & McLain, L. R. (1972). Changes in gill Adenosinetriphosphatase activity associated with parr-smolt transformation in steelhead trout, coho, and spring chinook salmon. *Journal of Fisheries Research Board of Canada*, 29, 167–171.
- Zydlewski, Gayle B., & Zydlewski, J. (2012). Gill Na +,K +-ATPase of Atlantic salmon smolts in freshwater is not a predictor of long-term growth in seawater. *Aquaculture*, *362–363*, 121–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2011.03.024
- Zydlewski, Gayle Barbin, Haro, A., & McCormick, S. D. (2005). Evidence for cumulative temperature as an initiating and terminating factor in downstream migratory behavior of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) smolts. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 62, 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1139/f04-179
- Zydlewski, J., Zydlewski, G., Kennedy, B., & Gale, W. (2014). Smolting in coastal cutthroat trout Onchorhynchus clarkii clarkii. *Journal of Fish Biology*, *85*(4),

1111-1130. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.12480

Supplementary Materials

Correlations between physiological variables of smolt condition



Suppl. Fig. 1. Correlation matrix between physiological variables of Chilko sockeye smolts sampled throughout outmigration window (May-June): at lake-exit (A), estuary-entry(B), and ocean-entry(C). Variables from smolts sampled across all outmigration stages were pooled for aggregate correlations (D), and residuals of mass and energetic variables were corrected for linear temporal decline (E). Energetic density is denoted as ED and Fulton's condition factor as K (10⁵ g mm⁻¹). Positive correlations are shown in blue and negative correlations in red. Color intensity and the size of the circle are proportional to the correlation coefficients.

Parallel Odds Model

Suppl. Tab. 1. Results for tests of assumption of proportional odds for top salinity preference models. Response variable is ordered as preferred salinity, where freshwater < brackish < saltwater. The null hypothesis states that the slope of the logistic regression of the predictor by the response variable is equal among each category (freshwater, brackish, and saltwater preference).

Outmigration stage		Resid.		
	Explanatory Variables	diff.	df	p-value
Estuary-entry	K + ATP + TAG	1.41	3	0.70
Ocean-entry	ED + NKA	0.43	2	0.81
	K + ED + NKA	1.38	3	0.71
	mass + ED + NKA	1.01	3	0.80
	FL + ED + NKA	1.95	3	0.58
All stages (from lake-	resid. lipid + NKA + outmig. stage + FL	1.55	5	0.91
exit to ocean entry)	resid. log(ed) + NKA + outmig. stage + FL	0.48	5	0.99
	resid. log(TAG) + NKA + outmig. stage + FL	0.54	5	0.99
	resid. protein + NKA + outmig. stage + FL	0.80	5	0.98

Model Selection

Candidate Model			Model	AICc	Least	Cum.
Explanatory Variables	AICc	ΔAIC_{c}	Likeli.	Wt	Likeli.	Wt
1 (null model)	36.18	0.00	1.00	0.11	-16.02	0.11
ĸ	36.53	0.36	0.84	0.09	-15.13	0.20
TAG	37.77	1.59	0.45	0.05	-15.74	0.25
lipid	37.95	1.77	0.41	0.05	-15.84	0.30
protein	38.08	1.91	0.39	0.04	-15.90	0.34
NKA	38.10	1.92	0.38	0.04	-15.91	0.39
K + TAG	38.14	1.97	0.37	0.04	-14.84	0.43
FL	38.23	2.05	0.36	0.04	-15.97	0.47
mass	38.26	2.09	0.35	0.04	-15.99	0.51
ED	38.31	2.13	0.34	0.04	-16.02	0.55
K + lipid	38.34	2.16	0.34	0.04	-14.93	0.58
K + protein	38.69	2.51	0.28	0.03	-15.11	0.61
K + ED	38.70	2.52	0.28	0.03	-15.11	0.65
K + NKA	38.72	2.55	0.28	0.03	-15.13	0.68
mass + TAG	39.47	3.29	0.19	0.02	-15.50	0.70
TAG + NKA	39.55	3.38	0.18	0.02	-15.54	0.72
lipid + NKA	39.62	3.45	0.18	0.02	-15.58	0.74
FL + TAG	39.95	3.77	0.15	0.02	-15.74	0.76
mass + lipid	40.00	3.83	0.15	0.02	-15.77	0.77
protein + NKA	40.07	3.89	0.14	0.02	-15.80	0.79
FL + lipid	40.10	3.92	0.14	0.02	-15.81	0.80
FL + protein	40.17	3.99	0.14	0.02	-15.85	0.82
FL + NKA	40.18	4.00	0.14	0.02	-15.85	0.83
mass + protein	40.23	4.05	0.13	0.01	-15.88	0.85
mass + NKA	40.27	4.10	0.13	0.01	-15.90	0.86
ED + NKA	40.29	4.11	0.13	0.01	-15.91	0.88
K + NKA + TAG	40.36	4.18	0.12	0.01	-14.82	0.89
FL + ED	40.40	4.22	0.12	0.01	-15.96	0.91
mass + ED	40.45	4.28	0.12	0.01	-15.99	0.92
K + NKA + lipid	40.52	4.35	0.11	0.01	-14.90	0.93
K + NKA + protein	40.93	4.75	0.09	0.01	-15.11	0.94
K + NKA + ED	40.94	4.76	0.09	0.01	-15.11	0.95
mass + NKA + TAG	41.41	5.23	0.07	0.01	-15.35	0.96
FL + NKA + TAG	41.77	5.60	0.06	0.01	-15.53	0.97
mass + NKA + lipid	41.81	5.63	0.06	0.01	-15.55	0.97
FL + NKA + lipid	41.82	5.65	0.06	0.01	-15.55	0.98
FL + NKA + protein	42.19	6.01	0.05	0.01	-15.74	0.99
mass + NKA + protein	42.30	6.12	0.05	0.01	-15.79	0.99
FL + NKA + ED	42.42	6.24	0.04	0.00	-15.85	1.00
mass + NKA + ED	42.52	6.34	0.04	0.00	-15.90	1.00

Suppl. Tab. 2. Model Selection for predicting salinity preference by physical and physiological condition in the lake-exit outmigration stage.

						•
Candidate Model			Model		Least	Cum.
Explanatory Variables			LIKEII.	<u>Wt</u>		<u>wt</u>
K + NKA + TAG	84.17	0.00	1.00	0.55	-36.82	0.55
K + TAG	87.34	3.16	0.21	0.11	-39.50	0.66
K + NKA + protein	88.61	4.44	0.11	0.06	-39.04	0.72
K + NKA + ED	88.88	4.71	0.09	0.05	-39.18	0.77
K + NKA + lipid	89.07	4.89	0.09	0.05	-39.27	0.82
K + ED	90.40	6.23	0.04	0.02	-41.03	0.84
K+ lipid	90.46	6.29	0.04	0.02	-41.06	0.87
K+ protein	90.53	6.36	0.04	0.02	-41.09	0.89
K + NKA	90.65	6.48	0.04	0.02	-41.16	0.91
K	92.39	8.22	0.02	0.01	-43.10	0.92
TAG + NKA	92.40	8.23	0.02	0.01	-42.03	0.93
FL + TAG + NKA	92.98	8.80	0.01	0.01	-41.22	0.94
ED + NKA	93.82	9.65	0.01	0.00	-42.73	0.94
lipid + NKA	93.82	9.65	0.01	0.00	-42.74	0.95
protein + NKA	93.82	9.65	0.01	0.00	-42.74	0.95
TAG	93.91	9.74	0.01	0.00	-43.86	0.95
FL + NKA + protein	94.41	10.24	0.01	0.00	-41.94	0.96
mass + NKA + TAG	94.42	10.24	0.01	0.00	-41.94	0.96
FL + NKA + lipid	94.45	10.28	0.01	0.00	-41.96	0.96
FL + NKA + ED	94.46	10.28	0.01	0.00	-41.96	0.97
protein	94.52	10.35	0.01	0.00	-44.16	0.97
ED	94.69	10.52	0.01	0.00	-44.24	0.97
lipid	94.69	10.52	0.01	0.00	-44.25	0.98
, FL + TAG	94.91	10.73	0.00	0.00	-43.28	0.98
FL + protein	95.32	11.14	0.00	0.00	-43.49	0.98
FL + NKA	95 59	11 42	0 00	0.00	-43 63	0.98
FL + lipid	95.63	11 46	0.00	0.00	-43 65	0.98
FI + FD	95 69	11.52	0.00	0.00	-43 68	0.99
mass + NKA + protein	95 70	11 53	0.00	0.00	-42 59	0.99
mass + NKA + FD	95 72	11 55	0.00	0.00	-42.60	0.00
mass + $NKA + linid$	05.72	11 55	0.00	0.00	<u>-</u> <u>1</u> 2.00	0.00 N QQ
mass + $T\Delta G$	95.75	11.55	0.00	0.00	<u>_1</u> 2.00	0.99 N QQ
mass + nrotoin	06 30 00.30	12.21	0.00	0.00	_11.01 _11 00	0.00
mass + protetti mass + linid	90.00 06 65	12.21 19.40	0.00	0.00	-44.02 11 15	0.33
111a55 + 11µ1U El	00.00 06.66	12.40 10 10	0.00	0.00	-44.10 15 00	0.99
	90.00 06.66	12.40 10.40	0.00	0.00	-40.20 11 16	1.00
	90.00	12.49	0.00	0.00	-44.10	1.00
1 NT\A	90.00	12.49	0.00	0.00	-45.23	1.00
	97.30	13.19	0.00	0.00	-40.03	1.00
mass + NKA	97.71	13.53	0.00	0.00	-44.69	1.00

Suppl. Tab. 3. Model Selection for predicting salinity preference by physical and physiological condition in the estuary-entry outmigration stage.
Suppl. Tab.	4. Model Selection for predicting salinity preference by physical
••	and physiological condition in the ocean-entry outmigration
	stage.

Candidate Model	A10	4 4 10	Model		Least	Cum.
	72.42	0.00	1.00	0.23	-32.01	0.23
	72.85	0.42	0.81	0.18	-31.11	0.41
mass + NKA + ED	/3.15	0.73	0.69	0.16	-31.26	0.57
FL + NKA + ED	/3.51	1.08	0.58	0.13	-31.44	0.70
lipid + NKA	/4.86	2.44	0.30	0.07	-33.22	0.77
protein+ NKA	/5.8/	3.44	0.18	0.04	-33.73	0.81
mass + NKA+ lipid	76.02	3.60	0.17	0.04	-32.70	0.84
FL + NKA + lipid	76.07	3.65	0.16	0.04	-32.72	0.88
K + NKA + lipid	76.26	3.84	0.15	0.03	-32.82	0.91
FL + NKA+ protein	77.08	4.66	0.10	0.02	-33.23	0.94
mass + NKA + protein	77.46	5.04	0.08	0.02	-33.42	0.96
K + NKA + protein	78.09	5.67	0.06	0.01	-33.73	0.97
TAG + NKA	78.44	6.01	0.05	0.01	-35.01	0.98
FL + NKA + TAG	79.67	7.24	0.03	0.01	-34.52	0.99
mass + NKA + TAG	80.21	7.79	0.02	0.00	-34.79	0.99
K + NKA + TAG	80.54	8.12	0.02	0.00	-34.96	0.99
ED	83.04	10.62	0.00	0.00	-38.41	1.00
NKA	83.58	11.16	0.00	0.00	-38.68	1.00
K + ED	84.29	11.86	0.00	0.00	-37.96	1.00
FL + NKA	85.05	12.63	0.00	0.00	-38.34	1.00
mass + ED	85.11	12.69	0.00	0.00	-38.37	1.00
FL + ED	85.18	12.76	0.00	0.00	-38.41	1.00
protein	85.37	12.95	0.00	0.00	-39.58	1.00
mass + NKA	85.48	13.06	0.00	0.00	-38.56	1.00
K + NKA	85.58	13.16	0.00	0.00	-38.61	1.00
lipid	86.08	13.65	0.00	0.00	-39.93	1.00
FL + protein	87.43	15.01	0.00	0.00	-39.53	1.00
mass + protein	87.47	15.05	0.00	0.00	-39.55	1.00
K + protein	87.52	15.10	0.00	0.00	-39.58	1.00
K + lipid	88.01	15.59	0.00	0.00	-39.82	1.00
FL + lipid	88.22	15.80	0.00	0.00	-39.93	1.00
mass + lipid	88.22	15.80	0.00	0.00	-39.93	1.00
TAG	88.69	16.27	0.00	0.00	-41.24	1.00
K + TAG	90.69	18.27	0.00	0.00	-41.16	1.00
FL + TAG	90.83	18 40	0.00	0.00	-41 23	1.00
mass + TAG	90.83	18 41	0.00	0.00	-41 23	1.00
1 (null model)	94.57	22.14	0.00	0.00	-45.23	1.00
mass + TAG 1 (null model)	90.83 94.57	18.41 22.14	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	-41.23 -45.23	1.00 1.00

К	96.53	24.11	0.00	0.00	-45.17	1.00
FL	96.65	24.23	0.00	0.00	-45.23	1.00
mass	96.66	24.24	0.00	0.00	-45.23	1.00

Suppl. Tab. 5. N	/lodel select	ion for pre	dicting salin	nity prefer	ence by p	nysical
CO	ndition, phy	siological	condition ar	nd outmig	ration stag	ge.

Candidate Model Explanatory			Model	AICc	Least	Cum.
Variables	AICc	ΔAIC_{c}	Likeli.	Wt	Likeli.	Wt
resid. lipid + NKA + outmig. stage + FL	199.03	0.00	1.00	0.34	-92.33	0.34
resid. log(ED) + NKA + outmig. stage + FL	199.19	0.16	0.92	0.31	-92.41	0.65
resid. log(TAG) + NKA + outmig. stage + FL	200.39	1.36	0.51	0.17	-93.01	0.83
resid. protein + NKA + outmig. stage + FL	200.39	1.36	0.51	0.17	-93.01	1.00
NKA + outmig. stage + FL	210.03	11.00	0.00	0.00	-98.88	1.00
resid. log(ED) + outmig. stage + FL	213.35	14.32	0.00	0.00	-100.54	1.00
resid. lipid + outmig. stage + FL	213.88	14.85	0.00	0.00	-100.81	1.00
resid. protein + outmig. stage + FL	214.48	15.45	0.00	0.00	-101.11	1.00
resid. log(TAG) + outmig. stage + FL	214.57	15.54	0.00	0.00	-101.16	1.00
resid. K + outmig. stage + FL	220.53	21.50	0.00	0.00	-104.14	1.00
NKA + FL	222.06	23.03	0.00	0.00	-106.97	1.00
outmig. stage	224.31	25.28	0.00	0.00	-108.10	1.00
outmig. stage + FL	224.44	25.41	0.00	0.00	-107.13	1.00
resid. mass + outmig. stage	226.07	27.03	0.00	0.00	-107.94	1.00
resid. log(TAG) + FL	228.28	29.25	0.00	0.00	-110.08	1.00
resid. log(ED) + FL	228.34	29.31	0.00	0.00	-110.11	1.00
resid. protein + FL	228.58	29.55	0.00	0.00	-110.23	1.00
resid. lipid + FL	228.63	29.60	0.00	0.00	-110.25	1.00
resid. mass + FL	230.08	31.05	0.00	0.00	-110.98	1.00
resid. K + FL	233.92	34.89	0.00	0.00	-112.90	1.00
FL	237.25	38.22	0.00	0.00	-115.59	1.00
1 (null model)	239.22	40.19	0.00	0.00	-117.59	1.00

Appendix A.

Validity of methods for estimating N⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity from gill tissue samples of juvenile sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*)

Introduction and Methods

The full methodology of estimating gill NKA activity is detailed in the main methods of this thesis, following McCormick (1993). The methods used in this thesis differed slightly from the original protocol in two ways: (1) The linear slops of ATP hydrolosis was calculated over the full 10 minutes, rather than only beginning the rate calculation after the first 3 minutes of enzyme activity and stopping after 9 minutes have passed; and (2) due to technical constraints of lab access due to the COVID-19 pandemic, gill sample assays were run in two batches, one in the fall of 2019, and one in the fall of 2020. Here, I test for variation in NKA values due to deviations from the original protocol.

The linear slope of ATP hydrolysis (or the equimolar disappearance of NADH) was calculated over 10 minutes for each sample in Omega BMG Labtech Software 5.10 R2. This differs from McCormick (1993), who calculated the slope between 3 and 9 minutes of the assay. I compared a randomized subsample of assays (n = 104) between those calculated over 6 minutes or 10 minutes using paired t-tests functions in the rstatix package of R version 4.0.2 (Kassambara, 2020b).

To account for the potential error due to freezer time between samples run in 2019 and those in 2020, I compared NKA and CV of a subset of samples that were ran both in 2019 and 2020 in a paired t-test (n = 61). For the full gill dataset, 348 samples were run in 2019 and 84 were run in 2020. All samples were run in randomized order. In this full dataset, I tested for an effect of days in freezer on the CV of gill NKA values using a linear model.

Results

Calculation of slope of gill NKA activity over 10-minutes

There is no strong evidence that the coefficient of variation differed between protocols ($\bar{x}_{6minute} = 9.61$, $SD_{6minute} = 12.28$, $\bar{x}_{10minute} = 8.92$, $SD_{10minute} = 11.87$, t(102) = -1.018, p = 0.31, d = -0.1). Estimations of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity was slightly higher in the 6 minute protocol ($\bar{x}_{6minute} = 8.99$, $SD_{6minute} = 2.76$) than the 10 minute protocol ($\bar{x}_{10minute} = 8.52$, $SD_{10minute} = 2.55$), but the effect size was small (t(102) = -4.781, p < 0.001, d = -0.5).





Figure A1. Comparison of NKA values and coefficient of variance (CV) resulting from slope calculations over 6 minutes and 10 minutes from the same gill sample.

Duration of time frozen at -80°C on estimates of gill NKA activity

The absolute difference in NKA values between 2019 and 2020 samples ranged from 0 - 9.94 µmol ADP mg protein⁻¹ hr⁻¹, with a mean absolute difference of 2.64 µmol ADP mg protein⁻¹ hr⁻¹. Gill NKA values from the same fish that were run in 2019 did not significantly differ from NKA values that were run in 2020, t(60) = 1.768, p = 0.08 (Figure A2). The absolute difference in CV between 2019 and 2020 samples ranged from 0.2 - 49.25 %, with a mean absolute difference in CV of 12.23 %. Gill samples from the same fish that were run in 2020 had significantly lower variance than those ran in 2019, t(58) = 2.070, p = 0.04, indicating improved technical skill from previous experience running the assays. NKA values measured in 2019 showed a linear increase in activity over the duration of time in freezer, with a daily increase in activity of 0.04 µmol ADP mg protein⁻¹ hr⁻¹ (Figure A3); This trend was not reflected in the samples that were run in 2020.



Figure A2. Comparison of NKA values and coefficient of variance (CV) between gill samples from the same fish run in 2019 and 2020.





Figure A3. Effect of duration of time frozen at -80°C on gill NKA coefficient of variation (CV, top) and NKA activity (bottom) for those that were analyzed in 2019 (left) and 2020 (right).

Conclusion

The difference in variation and activity between protocols was negligible. There was a detectable effect of freezer time, but only on samples that were frozen for less than a year. It appears that a freeze effect dampens over time in freezer, and is likely non-linear. The daily frozen rate of change in gill NKA activity (0.04 μ mol ADP mg protein⁻¹ hr⁻¹) was very small relative to the average gill NKA activity (8.4 μ mol ADP mg protein⁻¹ hr⁻¹). From these results, gill samples from 2019 and 2020 were pooled for analysis, and slopes for all Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity reported in this thesis were calculated using the 10-minute protocol. Final NKA values for smolt gills that were re-ran were selected from the year (2019 or 2020) with the lowest CV and the highest number of viable replicates.

Appendix B.

Analysis of non-exploratory behaviour in juvenile sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*)

Introduction

Behavioural studies provide a useful companion to physiological thresholds as a more ecologically relevant indictor of response. The tolerance of an individual to a stressor or change in condition may not represent the conditions an individual would experience in the wild, as mobile animals may simply avoid the stressor and move to another location of acceptable conditions. Understanding the mechanisms that drive behaviour in wild salmon has implications for population dynamics, proper care in aquaculture and accuracy in stock assessment (Fréon et al., 1993).

Exploratory behavior is when an individual engages with a novel stimuli or environmental condition (Greenberg & Mettke-Hofmann, 2001). This behaviour may result in a new source of food or un-occupied habitat, or it may not be an acceptable resource. Further, exploratory behaviour may put the individual at higher risk of predation from exposure in a novel environment. The costs and benefits of exploration are relative to fish condition, previous experience, and the life-stage of the fish.

Non-responsiveness in laboratory conditions is a common observation in behavioural studies. While this may be a behavioural trait due to the temperament of individual fish (Réale et al., 2007), it may also be related to common factors of laboratory studies, such as transport, handling, and acclimation to novel laboratory holding conditions. Non-responsiveness may also be due to physical traits of fish, such as size and physiology.

In the experiments of this thesis, I only determined salinity preference for smolts that had explored the experimental chambers. This ensured that fish (1) were physically capable of swimming and thus representative of the population,

(2) could navigate the experimental tank and access the other chambers, and (3) had knowledge of the other salinities in which to make a choice to occupy or not.

Nearly half of all fish tested (47%) did not move from the original chamber in which they were placed; these were categorized as non-exploratory and were not included in models to predict salinity preference. However, non-exploratory fish may not have moved from the chamber because the resulting salinity was within their preference. To evaluate the assumptions of my salinity preference models, I tested whether exploratory behaviour was a factor of (1) the duration of time in captivity, or (2) physiological condition. In addition, I tested whether inclusion or exclusion of non-exploratory smolts in salinity preference models resulted in different outcomes.

Methods

Observations of exploratory behaviour were taken during salinity preference experiments at three stages of outmigration: (1) lake-exit, (2) estuary-entry, and (3) ocean-entry. The full experimental methodology is outlined in the main methods of this thesis. Briefly, six smolts were placed in an experimental aquarium divided into three chambers. The conditions of the aquarium were kept constant for a one-hour acclimation period. After one-hour, a salinity gradient was imposed across the aquarium, where each chamber was filled from the bottom with either freshwater (~2 ppm), brackish water (~15 ppm) or saltwater (~32 ppm), displacing the freshwater of the acclimation period. The response of the fish to this environmental change was observed as movement between chambers. If a fish failed to move between chambers during the acclimation period and after the salinity gradient was imposed, it was deemed non-exploratory.

Temporal variation in exploratory behaviour

There may be an effect of holding time on willingness to explore an experimental chamber. Exploration behaviour during salinity preference trials was tested

against holding time (days since capture at outmigration), smolt size and energetics. To test for an effect of holding time on exploratory behaviour of wild smolts, I used a binomial logistic regression to predict the likelihood of exploratory (1) or non-exploratory behaviour (0) from the duration of time that smolts were held in the aquatic facility. The model was run using the glm function of the stats package of R version 3.5.2 (R Core Team, 2018), with the following equation:

$$log\left(\frac{p}{1-p}\right) = \beta_0 + \beta(Days \ since \ outmigration)$$

Physiology of exploratory and non-exploratory smolts

There may be a relation between fish physiology (overall condition) and willingness to explore experimental chambers. I compared fork length, wet mass and Fulton's K between exploratory (n = 121) and non-exploratory (n = 142) fish using separate t-tests for each dependent variable in the stats package of R version 3.5.2 (R Core Team, 2018). Normality and heteroscedasticity of residuals were verified visually and quantitatively using the ncvTest function from the package car (Fox et al., 2018) of R version 3.5.2 (R Core Team, 2018). Energetic variables of non-exploratory fish were only available for smolts from those tested on day 1 of outmigration (river outmigration group, n = 45). I compared % lipid, % protein, energetic density, and % TAG of lipid between exploratory (n = 29) and non-exploratory fish (n = 16) using separate t-tests. Normality and heteroscedasticity of residuals were verified visually and quantitatively, as above. Percent lipid was square root transformed and % TAG of lipid was log transformed to correct for positive skew.

Metrics of salinity preference

I compared differences in preferred salinity if assigned as salinity of chamber occupied for more than 50% of experimental trial (>30 mins) or as last chamber occupied at end of experimental trial (at 60 mins).

Inclusion of non-exploratory smolts in salinity preference models

I followed the same method of analysis as described in the main thesis methods to predict salinity preference by smolt physiology at each of the migration stages. Energetic measurements for non-exploratory smolts were only available for the lake-exit migration stage. Values for TAG, % lipid, and gill NKA were log transformed prior to analysis to meet assumptions of normality.

Results

Is there an effect of holding time on exploratory behaviour?

Out of the 252 smolts tested for salinity preference overall, 47% were nonexploratory (n = 119). At the onset of lake outmigration, 68% of smolts tested were exploratory. 6-10 days after lake outmigration, 36% of smolts were exploratory. 21-24 days after lake outmigration, 51% of smolts were exploratory. Days since outmigration failed to explain the likelihood of exploratory behaviour (β =-2.96 x10⁻³, *SE* = 0.015, *z* = -0.194 *p* = 0.85).



Days since Outmigration



Are there differences in physiology between exploratory and nonexploratory smolts?

I did not find sufficient evidence that exploratory or non-exploratory smolts differed in condition (Figure A5). Fork length (t(242) = 0.103, SE = 1.606, p > 0.1), wet mass (t(243) = 0.301, SE = 0.118, p > 0.1) and Fulton's Condition Factor (t(250) = -0.734, SE = 0.008, p > 0.1) did not significantly differ between exploratory and non-exploratory fish. Energetic variables were only available for comparison between exploratory and non-exploratory fish in the first outmigration group (river, n = 45). Log of percent lipid (t(43) = 0.871, SE = 0.108, p = 0.39), percent protein (t(43) = 1.103, SE = 0.325, p = 0.276), energetic density (t(43) = 0.521, SE = 0.267, p = 0.605), and percent TAG (g/g lipid, t(43) = -0.482, p > 0.521, SE = 0.267, p = 0.605), and percent TAG (g/g lipid, t(43) = -0.482, p > 0.521, SE = 0.267, p = 0.605), and percent TAG (g/g lipid, t(43) = -0.482, p > 0.521, SE = 0.267, p = 0.605), and percent TAG (g/g lipid, t(43) = -0.482, p > 0.521, SE = 0.267, p = 0.605), and percent TAG (g/g lipid, t(43) = -0.482, p > 0.521, SE = 0.267, p = 0.605).

0.1), were not significantly different between exploratory (n = 29) and nonexploratory (n = 16) fish. Gill NKA activity did not differ between exploratory and non-exploratory smolts (t(243) = -0.052, SE = 0.348, p > 0.1).

Tab. B1. Smolt size, weight and physiological condition throughout each outmigration stage of salinity preference experiments. Means within each stage are reported with standard deviation in parenthesis. Results are presented for exploratory and nonexploratory (NE) smolts separately, from linear regressions of each condition variable by day since lake outmigration. The slope (β) indicates the estimated rate of change in condition per day, and the intercept indicates the model estimate for condition at lake outmigration. Models that were significant to $\alpha = 0.05$ are shown in bold (*P*).

Condition	Behaviour	Mean withir	n	β_0	β	SE	Ρ		
variable		River	Estuary	Ocean					
Fork length	E	88 (5)	85 (6)	84 (5)	115	87.25	-0.149	0.059	0.01
(mm)	NE	86 (4)	85 (6)	86 (5)	133	85.51	+0.014	0.060	0.8
Wet Mass (g)	E	4.92 (0.90)	4.50 (0.96)	3.95 (0.81)	115	4.93	-0.045	0.009	<0.001
	NE	4.79 (0.62)	4.58 (0.97)	4.14 (0.79)	133	4.82	-0.030	0.010	<0.01
Fulton's K	E	0.73 (0.05)	0.71 (0.06)	0.65 (0.04)	115	1.17	-0.004	0.001	<0.001
(10 ⁵ g mm ⁻³)	NE	0.74 (0.04)	0.73 (0.05)	0.65 (0.06)	133	1.36	-0.005	0.001	<0.001
Gill NKA	E	8.63 (3.33)	8.34 (2.56)	8.36 (3.16)	109	8.48	-0.005	0.032	0.9
activity (µmol ADP mg protein ⁻¹ hr ⁻¹)	NE	8.26 (2.34)	7.90 (2.47)	9.44 (2.43)	131	7.42	+0.086	0.028	<0.01



Fig. B2. Physiological condition distributions of exploratory (green) and non-exploratory (grey) smolts from salinity preference experiments. Values for Fulton's Condition Factor (K) and gill Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase (NKA) activity are shown for all experimental smolts (n = 252), while values for lipid, and energetic density (ED) are from smolts at the onset of lake outmigration (n = 45). Means for each group are shown as solid lines.

Is there a discrepancy between metrics of salinity preference?

The majority of the time, the last chamber occupied by the fish was also the chamber in which the fish spent >50% of the experimental time (Figure B3). At lake-exit, the last chamber occupied for each fish tested (n = 48) was also the chamber most occupied by each fish. Interestingly, the result for individual salinity preference changes slightly depending on the metric used for fish tested at estuary-entry and ocean-entry. At estuary-entry, a small proportion of fish (5%) that spent more than 50% of the experiment in freshwater changed chambers at

the end of the experiment to end in saline water. Likewise, a small proportion of fish (2%) that spent the most time in saltwater changed chambers at the end of the experiment to reside in brackish water. At ocean-entry, I saw the highest variation in determining salinity preference between the two metrics, where all chambers showed a minor proportion (<20%) of fish switching at the end of the experiment. Overall, using the salinity of the final chamber as opposed to the salinity of the longest occupied chamber would have increased the number of fish that prefer brackish water by 8% (reducing freshwater preference by 5% and saltwater preference by 3%).



Chamber occupied >30 mins

Fig. B3. Difference in preferred salinity if assigned as salinity of chamber occupied for more than 50% of experimental trial (>30 mins) or as last chamber occupied at end of experimental trial (at 60 mins).

Does inclusion of non-exploratory smolts alter the outcome of salinity preference models?

Including non-exploratory smolts in salinity preference analysis for lake-exit, estuary-entry, and ocean-entry increased sample sizes from 30 to 45 fish, 43 to 120 fish, and 42 to 83 fish, respectively. Similar trends of salinity preference were seen for exploratory and nonexploratory fish throughout migration stages (see Table 2 in main body of text). At lake-exit, freshwater was the most preferred salinity, regardless of behaviour. At estuary-entry, there was relatively equal preference for fresh and brackish water among exploratory and non-exploratory smolts. At ocean entry, the majority of exploratory smolts preferred freshwater, while most non-exploratory smolts preferred saltwater.

At lake-exit, the null model was selected as the most parsimonious model to predict salinity preference for the dataset including non-exploratory smolts (n = 45). This is the same result when only exploratory smolts were included in the analysis. At estuary-entry, the top model for predicting salinity preference among exploratory and non-exploratory smolts (n = 120) included K and gill NKA (AIC_c = 251.48, Table B2). When only exploratory smolts were included in model selection, the top model included K, gill NKA and also TAG. Energetics were unavailable for non-exploratory smolts at this stage and so the effect of TAG on salinity preference is undetermined. Smolts (exploratory and non-exploratory) with increasing condition (K and gill NKA) showed increased preference for saltwater (Figure B4, Table B3). This is the same trend when only exploratory smolts were included in the analysis.

At ocean-entry, gill NKA was the top model for predicting salinity preference in exploratory and non-exploratory fish (AIC_c =172.11, Table B2). When only exploratory smolts were included in model selection, the top model included gill NKA and energetic density (ED) as predictors. Energetics were unavailable for non-exploratory smolts at this stage and so the effect of ED on salinity preference is undetermined. Smolts (exploratory and non-exploratory) with increasing condition (ED and gill NKA) showed increased preference for

saltwater (Figure B4, Table B3). This is the same trend when only exploratory smolts were included in the analysis.

models include exploratory and non-exploratory smolls.								
Migration	Candidate Model Expl.			Model	AICc	Least	Cum	
Stage	Variables	AICc	∆AICc	Likeli.	Wt	Likeli.	. Wt	
Lake-exit	1	55.21	0.00	1.00	0.12	-25.56	0.12	
	k	56.25	1.04	0.59	0.07	-25.03	0.19	
	log(NKA)	56.90	1.69	0.43	0.05	-25.36	0.25	
	log(lipid)	56.99	1.78	0.41	0.05	-25.40	0.30	
	fl	57.14	1.93	0.38	0.05	-25.48	0.34	
	log(TAG)	57.18	1.97	0.37	0.05	-25.50	0.39	
	ed	57.19	1.98	0.37	0.05	-25.51	0.43	
	prot	57.26	2.05	0.36	0.04	-25.54	0.48	
	mass	57.30	2.09	0.35	0.04	-25.56	0.52	
	k + log(lipid)	58.19	2.98	0.23	0.03	-24.94	0.55	
	k + ed	58.23	3.02	0.22	0.03	-24.96	0.58	
	k + prot	58.23	3.02	0.22	0.03	-24.96	0.60	
	k + log(NKA)	58.24	3.03	0.22	0.03	-24.97	0.63	
	k + log(TAG)	58.28	3.07	0.22	0.03	-24.99	0.66	
	log(lipid) + log(NKA)	58.47	3.26	0.20	0.02	-25.08	0.68	
	log(TAG) + log(NKA)	58.84	3.64	0.16	0.02	-25.27	0.70	
	ed + log(NKA)	58.87	3.66	0.16	0.02	-25.28	0.72	
	fl + log(NKA)	58.88	3.67	0.16	0.02	-25.29	0.74	
	prot + log(NKA)	58.98	3.78	0.15	0.02	-25.34	0.76	
	fl + log(lipid)	59.00	3.79	0.15	0.02	-25.34	0.78	
	mass + log(NKA)	59.02	3.81	0.15	0.02	-25.36	0.79	
	mass + log(lipid)	59.10	3.89	0.14	0.02	-25.40	0.81	
	fl + ed	59.20	3.99	0.14	0.02	-25.45	0.83	
	fl + log(TAG)	59.21	4.01	0.13	0.02	-25.45	0.84	
	fl + prot	59.24	4.03	0.13	0.02	-25.47	0.86	
	mass + log(TAG)	59.28	4.07	0.13	0.02	-25.48	0.88	
	mass + ed	59.30	4.09	0.13	0.02	-25.50	0.89	
	mass + prot	59.37	4.17	0.12	0.02	-25.53	0.91	
	k + log(NKA) + ed	60.22	5.01	0.08	0.01	-24.88	0.92	
	k + log(NKA) + log(TAG)	60.27	5.06	0.08	0.01	-24.90	0.93	
	k + log(NKA) + prot	60.27	5.06	0.08	0.01	-24.90	0.94	
	k + log(NKA) + lipid	60.33	5.13	0.08	0.01	-24.93	0.95	
	fl + log(NKA) + lipid	60.87	5.66	0.06	0.01	-25.20	0.95	
	fl + log(NKA) + ed	60.94	5.73	0.06	0.01	-25.24	0.96	
	mass + log(NKA) + lipid	60.95	5.74	0.06	0.01	-25.24	0.97	
	fl + log(NKA) + log(TAG)	60.95	5.74	0.06	0.01	-25.24	0.97	
	mass + log(NKA) + log(TAG)	60.98	5.78	0.06	0.01	-25.26	0.98	
	fl + log(NKA) + prot	61.02	5.81	0.05	0.01	-25.28	0.99	
	mass + log(NKA) + ed	61.03	5.82	0.05	0.01	-25.28	0.99	
	mass + log(NKA) + prot	61.14	5.93	0.05	0.01	-25.34	1.00	
Estuary-	k + log(NKA)	251.48	0.00	1.00	0.87	-121.68	0.87	
entry	k	255.50	4.02	0.13	0.12	-124.72	0.99	

Table B2.Model selection for predicting salinity preference by physical
and physiological condition in the each outmigration stage. All
models include exploratory and non-exploratory smolts.

	log(NKA)	261.81	10.32	0.01	0.00	-127.87	0.99
	fl + log(ŃKA)	263.57	12.09	0.00	0.00	-127.73	1.00
	mass + log(NKA)	263.62	12.14	0.00	0.00	-127.75	1.00
	1	264.52	13.04	0.00	0.00	-130.24	1.00
	fl	266.22	14.74	0.00	0.00	-130.08	1.00
	mass	266.45	14.97	0.00	0.00	-130.19	1.00
Ocean-	log(NKA)	172.11	0.00	1.00	0.38	-83.00	0.38
entry	k + log(NKA)	172.59	0.48	0.79	0.30	-82.21	0.68
	fl + log(NKA)	173.56	1.45	0.48	0.18	-82.69	0.86
	mass + log(NKA)	174.18	2.07	0.36	0.14	-83.00	1.00
	1	185.52	13.41	0.00	0.00	-90.74	1.00
	k	185.99	13.88	0.00	0.00	-89.95	1.00
	mass	186.84	14.72	0.00	0.00	-90.37	1.00
	fl	187.48	15.37	0.00	0.00	-90.69	1.0



Figure B4. Preferred salinity by smolt condition factor (A) and gill NKA activity (C). White and black circles indicate non-exploratory and exploratory smolts, respectively. Predictive models of salinity preference depending on smolt physiology at estuary-entry (A,B) and ocean-entry (C,D). Linetype indicates freshwater (dotted line), brackish (dot and dash line) or saltwater (solid line). In the estuary model (B), probabilites were calculated for values of Fulton's condition factor (K) while holding gill NKA at mean ($M_{NKA} = 7.8 \mu mol ADP mg$ protein⁻¹ hr⁻¹. The probability distribution for gill NKA is not shown as the effect size is small ($\beta = 0.11$).

Table B3. Salinity preference model summaries for smolts tested within the estuary-entry, ocean-entry and all outmigration stages (from lake-exit to ocean-entry). All models include exploratory and non-exploratory smolts. Models were selected by lowest AIC_c. Odds ratio and 2.5% and 97.5% confident interals are shown for coefficients scaled by 1 SD increase/decrease of each explanatory variable. The t value shows the Wald statistic. The null model was selected for lake-exit and is not shown.

Outmigration Stage	Predictor	β	SE	t value	р	OR	2.5% Cl	97.5% Cl
Estuary-entry	Condition Factor (K)	12.441	3.700	3.363	0.00	1.89	1.31	2.75
	log(NKA)	0.108	0.545	0.198	0.84	1.04	0.73	1.48
Ocean-entry	log(NKA)	1.294	0.622	2.082	0.04	1.62	1.03	2.54

Conclusion

I did not find sufficient evidence that exploratory or non-exploratory behaviour in smolts was explained by the duration of time in freshwater captivity. Further, exploratory and non-exploratory smolts did not differ in physiological condition. While there may be other important physiological parameters not assessed in this study, these results suggest that exploratory behaviour is most likely driven by individual temperament to risk, and not physiology or time in captivity. To determine salinity preference, I did not find evidence to suggest that the metric used would alter overall results. For the majority of fish, the last chamber occupied was also the chamber with the longest occupancy. Trends in salinity preference throughout migration by exploratory and non-exploratory smolts are congruent. When pooled, results for model selection and the effect of smolts physiology on salinity preference were similar in variables selected and direction of effect. Inclusion or exclusion of non-exploratory smolts did not change the overall findings of this study: Smolts of higher condition generally chose water of higher salinity, while smolts of lower condition preference freshwater. Overall, non-

exploratory behaviour was non explained by holding time or fish condition, and exclusion of non-exploratory behaviour did not change model results.